# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

### **SCHEDULE 14A**

#### PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Filed by the Registrant  $\boxtimes$ 

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant  $\square$ 

Check the appropriate box:

- Preliminary Proxy Statement
- □ Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- Definitive Proxy Statement
- Definitive Additional Materials
- □ Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-2

# Cue Health Inc.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter) (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- No fee required.
- □ Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
- □ Fee computed on table in exhibit required by Item 25(b) per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.



CUE PROXY STATEMENT | 2023

Pioneering the **digital healthcare** transformation



WHO WE ARE:

# Our mission is to enable **personalized**, **proactive**, and **informed healthcare** that empowers people to live their healthiest lives.

Covid-19 exposed fragilites without healthcare system highlighting the need for connected and intuitive health solutions. Cue Health enables access to health information and actions that are personalized and proactive for anyone, anwhere.



WHAT WE DO:

# We are helping **pioneer a** healthcare digital transformation,

beginning with diagnostics.

Distinguished by breakthrough science, our integrated care plaform is an end-to-end solution that bridges the physcial to virual care continuum that empower consumers and physicians.

#### **KEY BENEFITS:**



**Portable** Compact, automated, rechargeable system for frequent, reliable testing in home and at point-of-care.



Intuitive Easy to use. Requires no formal training. Fully guided experience from sample to result.



Fast & Accurate Results in minutes. 97.8% concordance with goldstandard PCR test as independently validated by Mayo Clinic for the Cue COVID-19 Test Kit.



Connected

Results delivered directly to a connected mobile device enabling telemedicine, early detection, intervention, eRx, prescription delivery and ongoing care.

#### DEAR STOCKHOLDER:

It is a privilege to update you on our journey at Cue as we continue to enable people to make quicker, better-informed healthcare decisions by placing diagnostic information at the center of care. Over the past year, we continued to execute on the strategy that we laid out when Cue was founded over a decade ago. Our focus has been to enable customers to have an end-to-end healthcare experience, including reliable health information and virtual care delivery at their fingertips, and the ability to make faster, more informed, and actionable healthcare decisions through the Cue Integrated Care Platform. This platform is our proprietary healthcare management solution, which consists of multiple hardware, software, and diagnostic components.

This year, we reached significant milestones, including submitting our Flu standalone and our Flu + COVID tests to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for De Novo and EUA review, respectively, and receiving an Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) for our mpox test. These accomplishments, alongside several other Cue tests currently under FDA review or in clinical studies, showcases our commitment to advancing our diagnostic test pipeline. I'm also proud to announce that a closed-loop healthcare journey through the Cue Integrated Care Platform is now a reality. A customer can take a diagnostic test, receive educational information on their diagnosis, consult with a provider, obtain an e-prescription, and have that medication delivered, all within the Cue Health App. This is a significant improvement in our healthcare delivery experience and, we believe, a foundational concept for the future of healthcare.



#### Cue Integrated Care Platform - an end-to-end solution



Building on this momentum, we reached several milestones in the past year that demonstrate our progress toward our overall strategy. Our collaboration with the Minnesota Department of Health to provide a statewide telehealth to treatment program, powered by Cue Care, at no cost to residents and our recent strategic partnership with Scripps Research Translational Institute to improve upon our clinical excellence, are particularly noteworthy. Additionally, we continued to advance our pipeline of molecular and immunoassay tests, expanded Cue Care to provide people with test-to-treatment services across an even greater number of conditions, and launched at-home, lab-based testing panels, which I will elaborate on below.

#### Pipeline

We have made significant progress on our near-term pipeline, focusing on the respiratory and sexual health categories. In the respiratory health category, we submitted our Flu + COVID Multiplex Test to the FDA for EUA and our standalone molecular test for flu is under De Novo review with the FDA. Our COVID-19 Molecular Test is also with the FDA for De Novo review for use in both home and point-of-care settings. We have also completed clinical studies for our RSV test, and our clinical studies for strep throat are underway.

In the sexual health category, we received our EUA for our high-sensitivity molecular mpox test in March of this year and clinical studies are now underway for our chlamydia + gonorrhea multiplex test.

#### Expanding Cue Care & Launching At-Home Panel Testing

Last summer, we successfully launched Cue Care, our virtual care delivery solution, which allows individuals to test from home, talk with a clinician immediately, and get treatment delivered to their home within hours. With the launch of Cue Care, we became the first company to offer a complete closed loop healthcare solution–diagnostic testing, consultation with a provider, in-app results, e-prescription and medication delivery. Cue Care currently treats a wide range of conditions, including flu, COVID-19, UTI, and sexual health. Many tests in our near-term pipeline, such as Strep Throat, Flu, Flu + COVID multiplex, and Chlamydia + Gonorrhea multiplex, can be integrated into Cue Care to improve the way people receive care and treatment after diagnosis.

Earlier this year we rolled out a suite of new at-home panel tests for a variety of health and wellness concerns, such as heart health, sexually transmitted diseases, and food sensitivities, among others. After receiving test results in the Cue Health App, customers can consult with a clinician for personalized care and arrange for delivery of any prescribed treatment via Cue Care. By integrating these new at-home panel tests into our platform, we further enhance our value proposition and advance our goal to make healthcare more convenient, proactive, and personalized. In the future, we expect Cue Care will address even more conditions and concerns.

#### **Closing Remarks**

Lastly, over the past year, we have adapted to the current macroeconomic environment by implementing a cost reduction plan. Looking forward, we will continue to focus on efforts that we believe will generate near-term revenue, including completion of our ongoing clinical studies for our point-of-care and at-home test cartridges and new product launches. As we look ahead, we are confident that our commitment to innovation and relentless drive to revolutionize the healthcare landscape will yield strong results. We are grateful for your support and trust in our journey, and we remain committed to creating value for our stockholders by staying true to our strategy and maintaining the high standards that have defined Cue Health from the beginning.

The attached Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement contain details of the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting. Whether or not you attend the meeting, it is important that your shares be represented and voted at the meeting. Please promptly vote and submit your proxy via the Internet, by phone, or by mail.

Sincerely,

Aund Apattal

Ayub Khattak

President and Chief Executive Officer, Director, Chairman of the Board

# Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

#### **Time and Date**

June 5, 2023 at 9:00 a.m., Pacific Time

#### CUE HEALTH INC. 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100

San Diego, CA 92121

#### Place

The Annual Meeting will be a completely virtual meeting of stockholders, to be conducted via live audio webcast. You will be able to attend the virtual Annual Meeting and submit your questions during the meeting by visiting *www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023*. You also will be able to vote your shares electronically at the Annual Meeting.

Items of Business	
1.	To elect two Class II directors to hold office until the 2026 annual meeting of stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualified, subject to their earlier deaths, resignations or removals.
2.	To ratify the selection of BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023.
3.	To transact such other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.
Record Date	
4.17.23	April 17, 2023 (the "Record Date"). Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting.

#### YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT.

Whether or not you plan to attend the virtual Annual Meeting, we urge you to submit your vote via the Internet, telephone or mail as soon as possible to ensure your shares are represented. For additional instructions for each of these voting options, please refer to the proxy card. Returning the proxy does not deprive you of your right to attend the virtual Annual Meeting and to vote your shares at the virtual Annual Meeting. The Proxy Statement explains proxy voting and the matters to be voted on in more detail.

#### Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Virtual Annual Meeting to be Held on June 5, 2023.

Our proxy materials, including the Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 are being made available on or about April 25, 2023 at the following website: *www.proxyvote.com*, as well as on our investor relations webpage at *investors.cuehealth.com*. We are providing access to our proxy materials over the Internet under the rules adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

#### Erica Palsis

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary San Diego, California April 25, 2023

Your vote is important. To vote your shares, please follow the instructions in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, which is being mailed to you on or about April 25, 2023.

# Table of Contents

	Page
PROXY STATEMENT FOR 2022 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS	1
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING	1
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	9
Director Nominees	10
Continuing Directors	12
Director Independence	15
Board Leadership Structure	15
Board and Stockholder Meetings and Committees	16
Audit Committee	16
Compensation Committee	17
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee	18
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	18
Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees	19
Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to the Board of Directors	20
Communications with the Board of Directors	20
Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Conduct	20
Role of the Board in Risk Oversight	21
Hedging Policy	21
Non-Employee Director Compensation	21
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE MATTERS	24
PROPOSAL NO. 1 – ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	26
Nominees	26
Vote Required	26
PROPOSAL NO. 2 – RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	27
Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	27
Auditor Independence	27
Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	28
Vote Required	28
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	29
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	33
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	33
Process and Procedures for Compensation Decisions	33
Summary Compensation Table	33
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2022 Year-End	35
2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards	36
Employment Agreements	39
Equity Compensation Plan Information	43
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	44
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	46
Convertible Note Financing	46
Other Transactions	46
Registration Rights	47
Indemnification Agreements	47
Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions	47
OTHER MATTERS	49
Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports	49
Fiscal Year 2022 Annual Report and SEC Filings	49
Company Website	49
Note About Forward Looking Statements	49

# Proxy Statement for 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

#### To Be Held at 9:00 a.m., Pacific Time, on June 5, 2023

This proxy statement (this "Proxy Statement") and form of proxy are being provided to you in connection with the solicitation of proxies by our board of directors for use at our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and any adjournments or postponements thereof (the "Annual Meeting"). The Annual Meeting will be held on June 5, 2023 at 9:00 a.m., Pacific Time, via live audio webcast at *www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023*. Stockholders of record as of April 17, 2023 are invited to attend the Annual Meeting and are entitled to vote on the proposals described in this Proxy Statement.

The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (the "Notice") containing instructions on how to access this Proxy Statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, (the "Annual Report"), is first being mailed on or about April 25, 2023 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting.

# Questions and Answers About the Annual Meeting

The information provided in the "question and answer" format below addresses certain frequently asked questions but is not intended to be a summary of all matters contained in this Proxy Statement. Please read the entire Proxy Statement carefully before voting your shares.

#### Why am I receiving these materials?

Our board of directors is providing these proxy materials to you in connection with our board of directors' solicitation of proxies for use at the Annual Meeting, which will take place on June 5, 2023. Stockholders are invited to attend the Annual Meeting and are requested to vote on the proposals described in this Proxy Statement.

Instead of mailing printed copies of our proxy materials to our stockholders, we have elected to provide access to them through the Internet under the "notice and access" rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). All stockholders will have the ability to access the proxy materials via the Internet, including this Proxy Statement and the Annual Report, as filed with the SEC on April 25, 2023. The Notice includes information on how to access the proxy materials, how to submit your vote over the Internet, by phone or how to request a paper copy of the proxy materials. This Proxy Statement and the Annual Report are available at *www.proxyvote.com*. If you receive a Notice by mail, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials in the mail unless you specifically request these materials.

We believe that using "notice and access" expedites stockholders' receipt of proxy materials, reduces our print and mail costs as well as the environmental impact of the Annual Meeting. However, if you would prefer to receive printed proxy materials, please follow the instructions included in the Notice or refer to the section entitled *"I share an address with another stockholder, and we received only one paper copy of the proxy materials. How may I obtain an additional copy of the proxy materials?"* below for additional information.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

# What proposals will be voted on at the Annual Meeting and how does our board of directors recommend that I vote?

The two proposals scheduled to be voted on at the Annual Meeting and our board of directors' voting recommendations with respect to each are:

	Proposal	Board's Voting Recommendation
1.	<b>Election of Directors (Proposal No. 1):</b> The election of each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford as a Class II director to hold office until the 2026 annual meeting of stockholders or until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.	FOR
2.	Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Proposal No. 2): The ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023.	FOR

At the time this Proxy Statement was mailed, our management and board of directors were not aware of any other matters to be presented at the Annual Meeting.

#### Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?

Holders of our common stock at the close of business on April 17, 2023, the record date for the Annual Meeting (the "Record Date"), are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. Each stockholder is entitled to one vote for each share of our common stock held as of the Record Date. As of the Record Date, there were 151,595,981 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Stockholders are not permitted to cumulate votes with respect to the election of directors.

#### How many votes are needed for approval of each proposal?

- 1. Proposal No. 1: The election of each Class II director requires a plurality vote of the shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. Plurality means that the nominees who receive the most FOR votes will be elected. Withhold votes and broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.
- 2. *Proposal No. 2:* The ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP requires an affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the proposal.

# What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

Stockholders of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If, at the close of business on the Record Date, your shares were registered directly in your name with Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc., our transfer agent, then you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares. As the stockholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to the individuals listed on the proxy card or to vote on your own behalf at the Annual Meeting.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If, at the close of business on the Record Date, your shares were held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee on your behalf, then you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name." As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other nominee how to vote your shares by following the voting instructions your broker, bank or other nominee provides. If you do not provide your broker, bank or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your shares, your broker, bank or other nominee may, in its discretion, vote your shares with respect to routine matters but may not vote your shares with respect to any non-routine matters. Proposal No. 2 related to the ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP is the only routine matter. For additional information, see "What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?" below.

#### Do I have to do anything in advance if I plan to attend the Annual Meeting?

The Annual Meeting will be a virtual audio meeting of stockholders, which will be conducted via live audio webcast. You are entitled to participate in the Annual Meeting only if you were a holder of our common stock as of the close of business on the Record Date or if you hold a valid proxy for the Annual Meeting.

You will be able to attend the Annual Meeting and submit your questions during the Annual Meeting by visiting *www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023*. You also will be able to vote your shares electronically at the Annual Meeting.

To participate in the Annual Meeting, you will need the control number included on your Notice or proxy card. The live audio webcast will begin promptly at 9:00 a.m., Pacific Time. We encourage you to access the meeting prior to the start time. Online check-in will begin at 8:45 a.m., Pacific Time, and you should allow ample time for the check-in procedures.

#### How can I get help if I have trouble checking in or listening to the meeting online?

If you encounter any difficulties accessing the virtual meeting during the check-in or meeting, please call the technical support number that will be posted on the Virtual Shareholder Meeting login page.

#### How do I vote and what are the voting deadlines?

Stockholders of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you can vote in one of the following ways:

- You may vote via the Internet. To vote via the Internet, go to www.proxyvote.com to complete an electronic proxy card. You will be asked to provide the control number from the Notice or proxy card you received. Your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time on June 4, 2023 to be counted. If you vote via the Internet, you do not need to return a proxy card by mail.
- You may vote by telephone. To vote by telephone, dial 1-800-6903 (the call is toll-free in the United States and Canada; toll charges apply to calls from other countries) and follow the recorded instructions. You will be asked to provide the control number from the Notice or proxy card you received. Your vote must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on June 4, 2023 to be counted. If you vote by telephone, you do not need to return a proxy card by mail.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

3

• You may vote at the Annual Meeting. To vote at the meeting, follow the instructions at *www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023* (have your Notice or proxy card in hand when you visit the website).

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are the beneficial owner of shares held of record by a broker, bank or other nominee, you will receive voting instructions from your broker, bank or other nominee. You must follow the voting instructions provided by your broker, bank or other nominee in order to instruct your broker, bank or other nominee how to vote your shares. The availability of Internet and telephone voting options will depend on the voting process of your broker, bank or other nominee.

#### Can I change my vote or revoke my proxy?

own in accordance with your instructions on the proxy card you mail.

Stockholders of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record, you may revoke your proxy or change your proxy instructions at any time before your proxy is voted at the Annual Meeting by:

- entering a new vote by Internet or telephone (subject to the applicable deadlines for each method as set forth above);
- signing and returning a new proxy card with a later date, which must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on June 4, 2023;
- delivering a written revocation to our Secretary at Cue Health Inc., 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100, San Diego, CA 92121, by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on June 4, 2023; or
- attending and voting at the Annual Meeting (although attendance at the Annual Meeting will not, by itself, revoke a
  proxy) by following the instructions at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are the beneficial owner of your shares, you must contact the broker, bank or other nominee holding your shares and follow their instructions to change your vote or revoke your proxy.

#### What is the effect of giving a proxy?

When a proxy is properly dated, executed and returned, the shares represented by the proxy will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions of the stockholder. Ayub Khattak has been designated as proxy holder by our board of directors. If no specific instructions are given, however, the shares will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of our board of directors. If any matters not described in this proxy statement are properly presented at the Annual Meeting, the proxy holder will use his own judgment to determine how to vote your shares. If the Annual Meeting is adjourned or postponed, the proxy holder can vote your shares on the new meeting date, unless you have properly revoked your proxy, as described above.

#### What if I do not specify how my shares are to be voted?

Stockholders of Record: Shares Registered in Your Name. If you are a stockholder of record and you submit a proxy but you do not provide voting instructions, your shares will be voted:

1.	FOR the election of the directors nominated by our board of directors and named in this proxy statement as a Class II directors to serve for a three-year term (Proposal No. 1);
2.	FOR the ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023 (Proposal No. 2); and
3.	in the discretion of the named proxy holders regarding any other matters properly presented for a vote at the Annual Meeting.

Beneficial Owners: Shares Registered in the Name of a Broker, Bank or Other Nominee. If you are a beneficial owner and you do not provide your broker, bank or other nominee that holds your shares with voting instructions, then your broker, bank or other nominee will determine if it has discretion to vote on each matter. Brokers do not have discretion to vote on non-routine matters. Proposal No. 1 (election of directors) is a non-routine matter, while Proposal No. 2 (ratification of appointment of independent registered public accounting firm) is a routine matter. As a result, if you do not provide voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee, then your broker, bank or other nominee may not vote your shares with respect to Proposal No. 1, which would result in a "broker non-vote," but may, in its discretion, vote your shares with respect to Proposal No. 2. For additional information regarding broker non-votes, see "What are the effects of abstentions, withheld votes and broker non-votes?" below.

#### What are the effects of abstentions, withheld votes and broker non-votes?

An abstention represents a stockholder's affirmative choice to decline to vote on a proposal. If a stockholder indicates on its proxy card that it wishes to abstain from voting its shares or withholds votes as to a particular proposal, or if a broker, bank or other nominee holding its customers' shares of record causes abstentions or withheld votes to be recorded for shares, these shares will be considered present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. As a result, abstentions and withheld votes will be counted for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum and will also count as votes against a proposal in cases where approval of the proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting (e.g., Proposal No. 2). However, because the outcome of Proposal No. 1 (election of directors) will be determined by a plurality vote, abstentions and withheld votes will have no impact on the outcome of such proposal as long as a quorum exists.

A broker non-vote occurs when a broker, bank or other nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the broker, bank or other nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to such proposal and has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of calculating whether a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting but will not be counted for purposes of determining the number of votes present and entitled to vote or votes cast. Therefore, a broker non-vote will make a quorum more readily attainable but will not otherwise affect the outcome of the vote on any proposal.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

#### What is a quorum?

A quorum is the minimum number of shares required to be present at the Annual Meeting for the meeting to be properly held under our bylaws and Delaware law. The presence (including by proxy) of a majority of all issued and outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting. As noted above, as of the Record Date, there were a total of 151,595,981 shares of our common stock outstanding, which means that 75,797,991 shares of our common stock must be represented at the Annual Meeting to have a quorum. If there is no quorum, (i) the chairperson of the meeting or (ii) a majority of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy may adjourn the meeting to a later date.

# How are proxies solicited for the Annual Meeting and who is paying for such solicitation?

Our board of directors is soliciting proxies for use at the Annual Meeting by means of the proxy materials. We will bear the entire cost of proxy solicitation, including the preparation, assembly, printing, mailing and distribution of the proxy materials. Copies of solicitation materials will also be made available upon request to brokers, banks and other nominees to forward to the beneficial owners of the shares held of record by such brokers, banks or other nominees. The original solicitation of proxies may be supplemented by solicitation by telephone, electronic communication, or other means by our directors, officers, employees or agents. No additional compensation will be paid to these individuals for any such services, although we may reimburse such individuals for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with such solicitation. We do not plan to retain a proxy solicitor to assist in the solicitation of proxies.

If you choose to access the proxy materials and/or vote over the Internet, you are responsible for Internet access charges you may incur. If you choose to vote by telephone, you are responsible for telephone charges you may incur.

#### What does it mean if I received more than one Notice?

If you receive more than one Notice, you hold shares that may be registered in more than one name or in different accounts. Please follow the voting instructions on each Notice to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

# I share an address with another stockholder, and we received only one paper copy of the proxy materials. How may I obtain an additional copy of the proxy materials?

We have adopted an SEC-approved procedure called "householding." Under this procedure, we will deliver only one copy of our Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, and for those stockholders that received a paper copy of proxy materials in the mail, one copy of our Annual Report and this Proxy Statement, to multiple stockholders who share the same address (if they appear to be members of the same family) unless we have received contrary instructions from an affected stockholder. Stockholders who participate in householding will continue to receive separate proxy cards if they received a paper copy of proxy materials in the mail. This procedure reduces our printing and mailing costs. Upon written or oral request, we will promptly deliver a separate copy of the proxy materials and annual report to any stockholder at a shared address to which we delivered a single copy of any of these documents. To receive a separate copy, or, if you are receiving multiple copies, to request that we only send a single copy of next year's proxy materials and annual report, you may contact us as follows:

Cue Health Inc.

Attention: Secretary 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100 San Diego, CA 92121 (858) 412-8151

Stockholders who hold shares in street name may contact their brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer or other nominee to request information about householding.

#### How can I find out the results of the voting at the Annual Meeting?

Preliminary voting results will be announced at the Annual Meeting. In addition, final voting results will be published in a current report on Form 8-K that will be filed within four business days after the Annual Meeting. If final voting results are not available to us at that time, we will file a Form 8-K to publish preliminary results and, within four business days after the final results are known to us, file an amendment to the Form 8-K to publish the final results.

# What is the deadline to propose actions for consideration at next year's annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate individuals to serve as directors?

#### Stockholder Proposals

Stockholders may present proper proposals for inclusion in our proxy statement and for consideration at the next annual meeting of stockholders by submitting their proposals in writing to our Secretary in a timely manner. For a stockholder proposal to be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement for our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, our Secretary must receive the written proposal not later than March 16, 2023. In addition, stockholder proposals must comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), regarding the inclusion of stockholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materials. Stockholder proposals should be addressed to:

Cue Health Inc.

Attention: Secretary 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100 San Diego, CA 92121 (858) 412-8151

Our bylaws also establish an advance notice procedure for stockholders who wish to present a proposal before an annual meeting of stockholders but do not intend for the proposal to be included in our proxy statement. Our bylaws provide that the only business that may be conducted at an annual meeting is business that is (i) specified in the notice of such meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of our board of directors, (ii) otherwise properly brought before the annual meeting by or at the direction of our board of directors, or (iii) properly brought before the annual meeting by a stockholder of record entitled to vote at the annual meeting who has delivered timely written notice to our Secretary, which notice must contain the information specified in our bylaws. To be timely for our 2024 annual meeting of stockholders, our Secretary must receive the written notice at our principal executive offices not earlier than February 6, 2024 and not later than March 7, 2024.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

7

In the event that we hold our 2024 annual meeting of stockholders more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after the first anniversary of the date of the Annual Meeting, then notice of a stockholder proposal that is not intended to be included in our proxy statement must be received no earlier than the close of business on the 120th day before the 2024 annual meeting and no later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is first made.

If a stockholder who has notified us of his, her or its intention to present a proposal at an annual meeting does not appear to present his, her or its proposal at such annual meeting, we are not required to present the proposal for a vote at such annual meeting.

#### Nomination of Director Candidates

You may recommend director candidates for consideration by our nominating and corporate governance committee. Any such recommendations should include the nominee's name and qualifications for membership on our board of directors and should be directed to our Secretary at the address set forth above. In addition to satisfying the requirements of our bylaws, stockholders who intend to nominate directors other than the directors we have nominated must also comply with the additional requirements of Rule 14a-19 under the Exchange Act. For additional information regarding stockholder recommendations for director candidates, see the section titled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to the Board of Directors."

#### Availability of Bylaws

A copy of our bylaws may be obtained by accessing our public filings on the SEC's website at *www.sec.gov*. You may also contact our Secretary at the address set forth above for a copy of the relevant bylaw provisions regarding the requirements for making stockholder proposals and nominating director candidates.

# Board of Directors and Corporate Governance

Our business is managed under the direction of our board of directors, which is currently comprised of seven members. Five of our seven directors are independent within the meaning of the independent director requirements of the Nasdaq Global Market ("Nasdaq"). Our board of directors is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a Class of directors will be elected for a three-year term to succeed the same Class whose term is then expiring.

Upon the recommendation of our nominating and corporate governance committee, we are nominating each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford as a Class II director at the Annual Meeting. If elected, each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford will hold office for a three-year term until the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2026 or until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

The following table sets forth the names and certain other information about each of our directors and director nominees as of April 17, 2023:

9

	Class	Age	Position	Director Since	Current Term Expires	Expiration of Term For Which Nominated
Director Nominees						
Chris Achar	II	38	Chief Strategy Officer and Director	May 2018	2023	2026
Joanne Bradford	II	59	Director	September 2021	2023	2026
Continuing Directors						
Carole Faig	111	61	Director	September 2021	2024	_
Joshua Ghaim	I	55	Director	July 2022	2025	_
Sachin Jain	I	42	Director	October 2022	2025	
Ayub Khattak	111	38	President, Chief Executive Officer, Director, Chairman of the Board and Co-Founder	January 2010	2024	-
Maria Martinez		65	Director	September 2021	2024	_

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

K

# **Director Nominees**



#### **Chris Achar**

Mr. Achar has served as a member of our board of directors since May 2018 and was appointed as our Chief Strategy Officer in June 2021. Mr. Achar is the founder of Genzum Life Sciences, Inc., a pharmaceutical company, and has served as its Chief Executive Officer since 2010. Prior, Mr. Achar founded Synergy Ventures, a venture capital company where he serves as a general partner, whose investments include seed stage funding to several medical technology companies including Cue BioPharma Inc. and Provention Bio Inc.

Mr. Achar previously served as a member of the board of directors of the Network for Teaching Entrepreneurship from 2018 to 2021. Mr. Achar holds a B.S. in business marketing from California State University and a M.B.A. from Pepperdine University School of Business.

We believe Mr. Achar is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his experience as a **healthcare executive and as an investor in multiple healthcare and biotech companies.** 

2023 PROXY STATEMENT CUE HEALTH

H



#### Joanne Bradford

Ms. Bradford has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2021. Ms. Bradford is currently the founder of Dreamie, a home remodeling platform. Ms. Bradford served as President of Honey Science Corp., an e-commerce technology platform, from June 2019 to May 2021, and as founder of Enkasa, a real estate tech and brokerage firm, from February 2021 to February 2023. Ms. Bradford also served as Chief Marketing Officer of Bolt Financial, an e-commerce checkout software company, from October 2021 to November 2022. Prior to joining Bolt Financial, Ms. Bradford served in various roles at Social Finance, Inc., or SoFi, an online personal finance company, from July 2015 to May 2019, including as Chief Marketing Officer and Chief Operating Officer. She previously held executive-level roles at Pinterest, the Hearst Corporation, Demand Media, Yahoo!, and Microsoft Corporation.

Ms. Bradford currently serves on the board of directors of Kahoot!, a game-based learning platform, and Super.com, a travel and rewards company. Ms. Bradford previously served as a director of Comscore, Inc., a global information and analytics company, from April 2019 until April 2020, and Katapult Holdings, an e-commerce financial services company, from June 2021 until February 2022. Ms. Bradford holds a B.A. in journalism from San Diego State University.

We believe Ms. Bradford is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her over 20 years of experience leading **product marketing**, **business development and programming**, **as well as building global sales and marketing teams**.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

11

K

## **Continuing Directors**

#### Ayub Khattak



Mr. Khattak is the co-founder of our company and has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and member of our board of directors since January 2010. He holds a B.S. in mathematics from the University of California, Los Angeles.

We believe Mr. Khattak is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his experience in the **healthcare technology industry and his extensive knowledge of our company.** 



#### **Carole Faig**

Ms. Faig has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2021. Ms. Faig has more than 38 years of audit and public accounting experience with Ernst & Young LLP, or EY, where she was a partner focused on the healthcare industry. Prior to her retirement from EY in July 2021, Ms. Faig served in a number of leadership roles including U.S. Health Leader and West Region Health and Life Sciences leader, where she managed a \$500 million practice. In addition, Ms. Faig has extensive experience as an audit partner serving public and private companies in the health sector. Ms. Faig holds a B.B.A. in accounting from Sam Houston State University and is a certified public accountant.

We believe Ms. Faig is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her extensive experience in the **healthcare industry and audit practices.** 

2023 PROXY STATEMENT CUE HEALTH

 $\vdash$ 



#### Joshua Ghaim

Dr. Ghaim has served as a member of our board of directors since July 2022. Dr. Ghaim is the Founder of Ignite Venture Studio, an innovation accelerator that builds and accelerates disruptive brands in digital health, wellness and beauty

categories, where he has also served as Managing Partner since November 2019. Dr. Ghaim has also served as President of Small World Brands Inc., a health and beauty start-up founded with a mission to globally support girls' education and women-owned businesses, since June 2018. Prior to founding Ignite Venture Studio, Dr. Ghaim was Chief Technology Officer – Consumer Health at Johnson & Johnson from July 2014 to November 2019, and he was previously responsible for Global Technology Innovation and a member of the R&D Management Committee at Johnson & Johnson Consumer, Medical Devices and the Pharma R&D organization leadership team.

Dr. Ghaim has served on the board of directors of Nonagon LTD, a medical technology company, since January 2022, and has served on the board of directors of African Diaspora Network, a non-profit organization focused on promoting entrepreneurship in the continent of Africa and African-American communities in the U.S., since March 2018. Dr. Ghaim has also served on the board of directors of Ignite Growth Brands since January 2020 and Infinite Looks Inc. since June 2020. Dr. Ghaim holds a B.S. in chemistry from Indiana University and a Ph.D. in biochemistry/molecular biology from the University of Illinois.

We believe Dr. Ghaim's **technology and management experience in the healthcare industry** provides him with the qualifications and skills necessary to serve as a member of our board of directors.

#### Sachin Jain

Dr. Jain has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2022. Dr. Jain has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of SCAN Group and Health Plan, a not-for-profit Medicare Advantage plan since July 2020 and as Academic Hospitalist at the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs since April 2021. From 2014 to 2020, Dr. Jain held several increasing leadership positions

at CareMore & Aspire Health, which are healthcare delivery systems, including President and Chief Executive Officer. From 2012 to 2014, Dr. Jain was Chief Medical and Information Officer at Merck & Co. (Nasdaq: MRK), a biopharmaceutical company. From 2009 to 2011, Dr. Jain worked in several leadership roles at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, including as senior advisor to the administrator of the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Dr. Jain is an adjunct professor of medicine at the Stanford University School of Medicine and a contributor to Forbes. In addition, Dr. Jain has served as a member of the board of directors of Cardiovascular Systems, Inc. (Nasdaq: CSII), a medical technology company, since January 2021. Dr. Jain also serves as a member of the board of directors of America's Health Insurance Plans (AHIP), Abode Hospice, the Make-A-Wish Foundation and Biofurmis Inc. Dr. Jain is also an Aspen Institute Health Innovator's Fellow. Dr. Jain holds a B.A. in government, an M.B.A and a M.D. from Harvard University.

We believe Dr. Jain is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his extensive experience in the **healthcare industry**.





#### Maria Martinez

Ms. Martinez has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2021. Ms. Martinez has served as Chief Operating Officer at Cisco Systems, Inc., or Cisco, since March 2021. She previously served as Executive Vice President and Chief Customer Experience Officer from April 2018 to March 2021. Prior to joining Cisco, Ms. Martinez served in a variety of senior executive roles at Salesforce.com, Inc. from February 2010 to April 2018, including as President of Global Customer Success and Latin America and Chief Growth Officer. Ms. Martinez has held additional leadership positions at telecom giants Motorola, Inc. and AT&T Inc., and also served as chief executive officer of Embrace Networks, Inc.

Ms. Martinez currently serves on the board of directors for McKesson Corporation and Silicon Valley Education Foundation, where her experience in leading large, global companies through transformation will help us to advance our mission of empowering people to live their healthiest lives. Ms. Martinez's board occupancy has spanned industries across both public and non-profit sectors, including serving as a member of the board of directors at Plantronics, Inc., Declara Inc., and Genesys Works Bay Area. Ms. Martinez holds a B.S. in electrical engineering from the University of Puerto Rico and a M.S. in electrical engineering from Ohio State University.

We believe Ms. Martinez is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her extensive experience in the **technology industry**.

2023 PROXY STATEMENT CUE HEALTH

 $\vdash$ 

#### **Director Independence**

Applicable Nasdag rules require a majority of a listed company's board of directors to be comprised of independent directors within one year of listing. In addition, Nasdaq rules require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company's audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees be independent under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Audit committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and compensation committee members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. Under applicable Nasdaq rules, a director will only qualify as an "independent director" if, in the opinion of the listed company's board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of the audit committee, the board of directors or any other board committee, accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries or otherwise be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries. In order to be considered independent for purposes of Rule 10C-1, the board must consider, for each member of a compensation committee of a listed company, all factors specifically relevant to determining whether a director has a relationship to such company which is material to that director's ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee member, including, but not limited to: (1) the source of compensation of the director, including any consulting advisory or other compensatory fee paid by such company to the director; and (2) whether the director is affiliated with the company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates.

Our board of directors undertook a review of the composition of our board of directors and its committees and the independence of each director and director nominee. Based upon information requested from and provided by each director and director nominee concerning his or her background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, our board of directors has determined that each director and director nominee, with the exception of Ayub Khattak and Chris Achar, is an "independent director" as defined under applicable Nasdaq rules, including, in the case of all the members of our audit committee, the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act, and in the case of all the members of our compensation committee, the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10C-1 under the Exchange Act. In making such determination, our board of directors considered the relationships that each such non-employee director has with our company and all other facts and circumstances that our board of directors deemed relevant in determining his or her independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director.

There are no family relationships among any of our directors or executive officers.

#### **Board Leadership Structure**

Mr. Khattak currently serves as both the Chairman of our board of directors and as our President and Chief Executive Officer. As our Co-Founder, Mr. Khattak is best positioned to identify strategic priorities, lead critical discussion, and execute our business plans. Our corporate governance framework provides our board flexibility to determine the appropriate leadership structure for the company, and whether the roles of Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer should be separated or combined. In making this determination, our board of directors considers many factors, including the needs of the business, our board's assessment of its leadership needs from time to time and the best interests of our stockholders. Our board of directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines that provide that the board of directors may appoint one of our independent directors to serve as our independent "Lead Director" at any time when the Chairman of our board of directors.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

Only independent directors serve on the audit, compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance committees of our board of directors. As a result of the board of directors' committee system and the existence of a majority of independent directors, the board of directors maintains effective oversight of our business operations, including independent oversight of our financial statements, executive compensation, selection of director candidates and corporate governance programs. We believe that the leadership structure of our board of directors' as well as the independent committees of our board of directors is appropriate and enhances our board of directors' ability to effectively carry out its roles and responsibilities on behalf of our stockholders, and Mr. Khattak's combined role enables strong leadership, creates clear accountability and enhances our ability to communicate our message and strategy clearly and consistently to stockholders.

#### Board and Stockholder Meetings and Committees

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, our board of directors held four meetings (including regularly scheduled and special meetings), and each director attended at least 100% of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of our board of directors held during the period for which he or she served as a director, and (ii) the total number of meetings held by all committees of our board of directors on which he or she served during the periods that he or she served, except for Mr. Ghaim and Mr. Jain who were appointed to our board of directors in July 2022 and October 2022 respectively.

We strongly encourage, but do not require, our directors to attend our annual meeting of stockholders. Three of our directors attended our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders.

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee, which are standing committees of the board of directors. Each of our standing committees operates under a written charter that complies with the applicable requirements of the Nasdaq listing standards and the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. Each of the charters is posted on our investor relations website at investors.cuehealth.com in the *"Corporate Governance"* section under *"Governance Overview."* The current membership of our committees, each committee's responsibilities and the number of meetings held by each committee in fiscal year 2022 are set forth below.

Name of Director	Audit Committee	Compensation Committee	Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Joanne Bradford		Member	Member
Carole Faig	Chair		
Joshua Ghaim	Member	Chair	Member
Sachin Jain	Member		Member
Maria Martinez	Member	Member	Chair

#### Audit Committee

The members of our audit committee are Carole Faig, Joshua Ghaim, Sachin Jain, and Maria Martinez. Carole Faig is the chair of the audit committee. During 2022, our audit committee held six meetings. Our audit committee's responsibilities include:

- appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the independence of our registered public accounting firm;
- overseeing the work of our independent registered public accounting firm, including through the receipt and consideration of reports from that firm;

- reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures;
- monitoring our internal control over financial reporting, disclosure controls and procedures and code of business conduct and ethics;
- overseeing our internal audit function;
- overseeing our risk assessment and risk management policies;
- establishing policies regarding hiring employees from our independent registered public accounting firm and procedures for the receipt and retention of accounting related complaints and concerns;
- meeting independently with our internal auditing staff, if any, our independent registered public accounting firm and management;
- reviewing and approving or ratifying any related person transactions; and
- preparing the audit committee report required by Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, rules.

Each of the members of our audit committee meets the requirements for independence under the listing standards of Nasdaq and the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. Each member of the audit committee also meets the financial literacy and sophistication requirements under current Nasdaq listing rules. Our board of directors has also determined that Carole Faig is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in applicable SEC rules. Our audit committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable rules of the SEC and the listing standards of Nasdaq. A copy of the audit committee charter is available on our website at https://investors.cuehealth.com/corporate-governance.

#### **Compensation Committee**

The members of our compensation committee are Joanne Bradford, Joshua Ghaim and Maria Martinez. Joshua Ghaim is the chair of the compensation committee. During 2022, our compensation committee held six meetings. Our compensation committee's responsibilities include:

- reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to, the compensation of our chief executive officer and our other executive officers;
- overseeing an evaluation of our senior executives;
- overseeing and administering our cash and equity incentive plans;
- reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to director compensation;
- reviewing and discussing annually with management our "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" disclosure if and to the extent then required by SEC rules;
- retaining or obtaining the advice of compensation consultants, independent legal counsel and other advisors; and
- preparing the compensation committee report if and to the extent then required by SEC rules.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

Each of the members of our compensation committee meets the requirements for independence under current Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations. Each member of our compensation committee is also a non-employee director, as defined pursuant to Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, or Rule 16b-3. Our compensation committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the Nasdaq listing standards. A copy of the compensation committee charter is available on our website at https://investors.cuehealth.com/corporate-governance.

#### Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The members of our nominating and corporate governance committee are Joanne Bradford, Joshua Ghaim, Sachin Jain and Maria Martinez. Maria Martinez is the chair of the nominating and corporate governance committee. During 2022, our nominating and corporate governance committee held four meetings. Our nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities include:

- recommending to our board of directors the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of our board's committees;
- reviewing and making recommendations to our board with respect to our board leadership structure;
- reviewing and making recommendations to our board with respect to management succession planning;
- developing and recommending to our board of directors corporate governance principles; and
- overseeing a periodic evaluation of our board of directors.

Each of the members of our nominating and corporate governance committee meets the requirements for independence under current Nasdaq and SEC rules and regulations. Our nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the Nasdaq listing standards. A copy of the nominating and corporate governance committee charter is available on our website at https://investors.cuehealth.com/corporate-governance.

#### Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of our executive officers serves, or in the past year has served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee, or other committee serving an equivalent function, of any other entity that has one or more of its executive officers serving as a member of our board of directors or our compensation committee. None of the members of our compensation committee is, or has ever been, an officer or employee of our company.

#### Considerations in Evaluating Director Nominees

Our nominating and corporate governance committee uses a variety of methods for identifying and evaluating potential director candidates. In its evaluation of director candidates, including the current directors eligible for re-election, our nominating and corporate governance committee will consider the current size and composition of our board of directors and the needs of our board of directors and the respective committees of our board of directors. Some of the qualifications that our nominating and corporate governance committee considers include, without limitation, character, integrity, judgment, diversity of experience, independence, area of expertise, corporate experience, length of service, potential conflicts of interest and other commitments. In making determinations regarding nominations of directors, our nominating and corporate governance committee requires the following minimum qualifications to be satisfied by any nominee for a position on the board of directors: (i) the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity, (ii) proven achievement and competence in the nominee's field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment, (iii) skills that are complementary to those of the existing board of directors, (iv) the ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the Company's success, and (v) an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required of a member of the board of directors and the commitment of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities. Any search firm retained by our nominating and corporate governance committee to find director candidates would be instructed to take into account all of the considerations used by our nominating and corporate governance committee. During fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, our nominating and corporate governance committee retained Heidrick & Struggles International, Inc., an independent third-party search firm, to assist in the process of identifying and evaluating potential independent director candidates.

After completing its review and evaluation of director candidates, our nominating and corporate governance committee recommends to our full board of directors the director nominees for selection.

Although our board of directors does not maintain a specific policy with regard to board diversity, the board of directors believes that the board should be a diverse body, and the nominating and corporate governance committee considers a broad range of perspectives, backgrounds and experiences. In making determinations regarding nominations of directors, the nominating and corporate governance committee may take into account the benefits of diverse viewpoints. The following chart provides summary information about the diversity of our directors as of April 17, 2023:

Total Number of Directors: 7		
	Female	Male
Part I: Gender Identity		
Directors	3	4
Part II: Demographic Background		
African American	—	1
Asian	—	2
Hispanic or Latinx	1	—
White	2	_
Two or More Races or Ethnicities	_	1
LGBTQ+	1	_
Did Not Disclose Demographic Background	_	

#### Board Diversity Matrix (as of April 17, 2023)

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

#### Stockholder Recommendations for Nominations to the Board of Directors

Our nominating and corporate governance committee will consider candidates for director recommended by stockholders of the Company who are stockholders of record at the time of the submission of the director recommendation and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting, so long as such recommendations comply with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and applicable laws, rules and regulations, including those promulgated by the SEC. The nominating and corporate governance committee will evaluate such recommendations in accordance with its charter, our amended and restated bylaws, our policies and procedures for director candidates, as well as the regular director nominees criteria described above. This process is designed to ensure that our board of directors includes members with diverse backgrounds, skills and experience, including appropriate financial and other expertise relevant to our business.

A stockholder that wants to recommend a candidate for election to the board of directors should direct the recommendation in writing by letter to the Company, attention of the Secretary at Cue Health Inc., 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100, San Diego, CA 92121. The recommendation must include the candidate's name, age, home and business contact information, detailed biographical data, relevant qualifications, a signed letter from the candidate confirming willingness to serve, information regarding any relationships between the candidate and the Company and evidence of the recommending stockholder's ownership of our capital stock. Such recommendation must also include a statement from the recommending stockholder in support of the candidate, particularly within the context of the criteria for membership on our board of directors.

#### Communications with the Board of Directors

Interested parties wishing to communicate with our non-employee directors may do so by writing to the board of directors or to the particular member or members of our board of directors and sending the correspondence by registered or overnight mail to our General Counsel at Cue Health Inc., 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100, San Diego, CA 92121. Each communication should set forth the name and address of the stockholder, as it appears on the Company's books, and if the Company's common stock is held by a nominee, the name and address of the beneficial owner of the Company's common stock, and the class and number of shares of the Company's common stock that are owned of record by the record holder and beneficially by the beneficial owner. Our General Counsel, in consultation with appropriate members of our board of directors, as necessary, will review all incoming communications and, if appropriate, all such communications will be forwarded to the appropriate member or members of our board of directors, or if none is specified, to the Chairman of our board of directors.

#### Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Conduct

Our board of directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines that address items such as the qualifications and responsibilities of our directors and director candidates and corporate governance policies and standards applicable to us in general. In addition, our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and ethics ("Code of Conduct") that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, and other executive and senior financial officers. The full text of our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Conduct is posted on our investor relations webpage at *investors.cuehealth.com* in the "Corporate Governance" section under "Governance Overview." We intend to post any amendments to our Code of Conduct, and any waivers of our Code of Conduct for directors and executive officers, on the same website or in filings under the Exchange Act.

#### Role of the Board in Risk Oversight

One of the key functions of our board of directors is informed oversight of our risk management process. Such risks include, among others, strategic, financial, business and operational, cybersecurity, legal and regulatory compliance, and reputational risks. Our board of directors does not have a standing risk management committee, but rather administers this oversight function directly through the board of directors as a whole, as well as through its standing committees that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, our board of directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure. Our audit committee is responsible for reviewing and discussing our major financial risk exposures and the steps our management has taken to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies with respect to risk assessment and risk management. In addition to oversight of the performance of our external audit function, our audit committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and reviews, approves, prohibits and monitors related party transactions. Our compensation committee assesses and monitors whether any of our compensation policies and programs has the potential to encourage excessive risk-taking. In addition, our compensation committee reviews the relationship between risk management and compensation and evaluates compensation policies and practices that could mitigate any such risks. Our nominating and corporate governance committee monitors the effectiveness of our Corporate Governance Guidelines.

#### **Hedging Policy**

Transactions in derivative securities may reflect a short-term and speculative interest in our securities and may create the appearance of impropriety. Trading in derivatives may also focus attention on short-term performance at the expense of our long-term objectives. Therefore, our Insider Trading Policy prohibits our directors, officers and employees from engaging in transactions to hedge ownership of our common stock, including publicly-traded options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities with respect to our common stock. Stock options, stock appreciation rights and other securities issued pursuant to our benefit plans or other compensatory arrangements with us are not subject to this prohibition.

#### Non-Employee Director Compensation

In June 2021, our board of directors approved a director compensation program that became effective in September 2021. Under this director compensation program, we will pay each of our non-employee directors a cash retainer for service on the board of directors and for service on each committee of which the director is a member. The chair of each committee will receive higher retainers for such service. Any non-executive chair of the board will receive an additional retainer for such service. These fees are payable in arrears in four equal quarterly installments on the last day of each quarter, provided that the amount of such payment will be prorated for any portion of such quarter that the director was not service on each committee of the board of directors of which the director is a member are as follows:

Position	Annual Retainer (\$)
Board Member	50,000
Non-executive Chair	45,000
Audit Committee Chair	20,000
Audit Committee Member	8,000
Compensation Committee Chair	12,000
Compensation Committee Member	5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair	10,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Member	4,000

#### CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

21

We also will continue to reimburse each of our non-employee directors for reasonable travel and other expenses incurred in connection with attending meetings of our board of directors and any committee of our board of directors on which he or she serves.

In addition, each of Joanne Bradford, Carole Faig, Joshua Ghaim, Sachin Jain and Maria Martinez received an initial grant of restricted stock units under the 2021 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2021 Plan") with a target value of \$300,000. Each of these restricted stock unit grants vest as to 34% of the shares of our common stock underlying such grant on the first anniversary of the grant date and an additional 33% of the shares of our common stock underlying such grant at the end of each successive 12-month period following the first anniversary of the grant date until the third anniversary of the grant date, subject to the non-employee director's continued service as a director.

Further, on the date of each annual meeting of our stockholders, each then-current non-employee director will receive a grant of restricted stock units under the 2021 Plan with a target value of \$190,000. Each of these restricted stock unit grants vest with respect to 100% of the shares of our common stock underlying such grant on the first anniversary of the grant date, subject to the non-employee director's continued service as a director (unless otherwise provided at the time of grant). The number of restricted stock unit grants made to our non-employee directors will be consistent with our practice for determining the number of restricted stock units granted to our employees. All restricted stock units granted to our non-employee directors under our director compensation program will vest in full upon a change in control.

Ayub Khattak and Chris Achar, as executive officers of the Company, do not qualify to receive compensation for their service as our directors under our director compensation program.

#### **Director Compensation in Fiscal 2022**

The following table provides information regarding compensation of our non-employee directors for service as directors for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Stock Awards (\$) <sup>1,2</sup>	Total (\$)
Joanne Bradford	59,000	155,935	214,935
Xiangmin "Min" Cui <sup>3</sup>	30,190	—	30,190
Carole Faig	70,000	155,935	225,935
Joshua Ghaim⁴	33,380	379,064	412,444
Sachin Jain⁵	11,538	305,420	316,958
Maria Martinez	73,549	155,935	229,484
Scott Stanford <sup>6</sup>	37,326	—	37,326

 The amounts reported in the "Stock Awards" column represent the aggregate grant-date fair value of the RSUs awarded to the non-employee director in 2022, calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. Such grant-date fair value does not take into account any estimated forfeitures related to service vesting conditions.

2. Each of the outstanding RSU awards listed in the below table were granted pursuant to our 2021 Plan. The following table lists all outstanding equity awards held by each of our non-employee directors as of December 31, 2022:

Name	Grant Date	Aggregate Number of Shares Underlying Stock Awards (#) <sup>a</sup>
Joanne Bradford	9/24/2021	12,374 <sup>a</sup>
Joanne Bradford	9/21/2022	47,980 <sup>b</sup>
Xiangmin "Min" Cui <sup>3</sup>		—
Carole Faig	9/24/2021	12,374 a
Carole Faig	9/21/2022	47,980 b
Joshua Ghaim <sup>4</sup>	7/21/2022	68,027 <sup>c</sup>
Joshua Ghaim	9/21/2022	47,980 <sup>b</sup>
Sachin Jain⁵	10/7/2022	90,361 <sup>d</sup>
Maria Martinez	9/24/2021	12,374 a
Maria Martinez	9/21/2022	47,980 b
Scott Stanford <sup>6</sup>		-

a. The RSUs will vest annually as to one-third (1/3) of the shares of our common stock subject to the award and shall be fully vested on September 23, 2024, subject, in each case, to the director's continuous service with us.

b. The RSUs will become fully vested on September 21, 2023, subject, in each case, to the director's continuous service with us.

c. The RSUs will vest annually as to one-third (1/3) of the shares of our common stock subject to the award and shall be fully vested on July 21, 2025, subject to the director's continuous service with us.

d. The RSUs will vest annually as to one-third (1/3) of the shares of our common stock subject to the award and shall be fully vested on October 7, 2025, subject to the director's continuous service with us.

- 3. Dr. Cui resigned from our board of directors in July 2022.
- 4. Dr. Ghaim joined our board of directors in July 2022.
- 5. Mr. Jain joined our board of directors in October 2022.
- 6. Mr. Stanford resigned from our board of directors in July 2022.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

# ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Our Mission, Vision, and Values framework is the lens through which we are approaching environmental, social, and governance (ESG) issues at Cue. While we aim to finalize a formal ESG framework, we have reached a number of notable milestones in the last year.

### Making environmental commitments

We conducted our first Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Inventory to evaluate Scope 1-3 emissions and completed a Product Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) to baseline Cue's carbon footprint.



These outputs informed our first Comparative Carbon Footprint (CFP) analysis to compare a Cue Health diagnostic system against a traditional real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) diagnostic system performed in a laboratory. The analysis found that the Cue Health platform has an 88% lower carbon footprint than a RT-PCR system on a per test basis.

### Building a diverse and inclusive workplace



Our CEO, Ayub Khattak, signed the CEO Action Pledge

the largest CEO-driven business commitment to advance diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging (DEIB) in the workplace. We are proud to share our recent CEO Action Pledge initiatives that support these efforts. We remain committed to maintaining diversity among Cue Health's executive leadership team (ELT), which is critical to our mission.



of our ELT identifies as part of an underrepresented racial or ethnic group\*

of our ELT identifies as female\*

of employees responded favorably to the statement "I can be my authentic self at work" in our latest employee engagement survey.

We are proud to have established 3 active Employee Resource Groups (ERGs)— Women, Pride, and Vets—with a growing number of participants.

### Ensuring responsible business practices



We created a

Cue Supplier Code of Conduct

**as an extension of our corporate Code of Business Conduct & Ethics.** This code forms the cornerstone of our commitment to responsibly source our products by defining universal standards to which we hold the suppliers who conduct business with us.

\*as of April 10, 2023

#### We are proud that



have already attested compliance with the Code

### Investing in our people



We launched our first Manager Development Program (MDP) to develop managers from entry- to mid-level management positions by building purpose, driving

expectations, and providing career coaching.

Piloted 3 cohorts in 2022 and graduated 50 members. We recently launched MDP company-wide with 4 additional cohorts for 2023.



would recommend the MDP to others

feel confident in applying learnings to their role

# Positively impacting our communities

We enhanced our social impact program,  $\bigcirc$  CUE**kindness** to mobilize the strengths and interests of our team to make a difference in the communities in which we live and work.

All U.S.-based, full-time team members now have 8 hours of volunteer paid time off annually to give back to a non-profit (501(c)(3))

of their choice.

We partnered with actress Jamie-Lynn Sigler to donate Cue Readers and Cue COVID-19 tests to the Multiple Sclerosis Association of America (MSAA), a leading resource for people like Sigler who are living with MS. MSAA now provides the Cue platform to members of their community who might otherwise risk their health by going to a doctors' office or pharmacy.

Our San Diego-based team members assembled **more than 1,000 care packages** for local non-profits, including:

Alpha

Project to support individuals experiencing homelessness Fleet Science

**Center** for middle school girls in their SciTec program

#### UC San Diego Foundation for families with loved ones

for families with loved ones in long-term or critical care



CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

 $\rightarrow$ 

K

# Proposal One Election of Directors

Our board of directors is currently composed of seven members. In accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. One Class is elected each year at the annual meeting of stockholders for a term of three years. At the Annual Meeting, two Class II directors will be elected for a three-year term to succeed the same Class whose term is then expiring. Each director's term continues until the election and qualification of such director's successor, or such director's earlier death, resignation or removal.

#### Nominees

Our board of directors has nominated each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford for election as a Class II director at the Annual Meeting. If elected, each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford will serve as a Class II director until the 2026 annual meeting of stockholders or until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. Both Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford are currently directors of the Company. For information concerning each of the nominees, see the section titled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance."

If you are a stockholder of record and you sign your proxy card or vote over the Internet or by telephone but do not give instructions with respect to the voting of directors, your shares will be voted FOR the election of each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford. Each of Chris Achar and Joanne Bradford has consented to being named as a nominee for director and agreed to continue to serve if elected; however, in the event that either Chris Achar or Joanne Bradford is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the Annual Meeting, the proxies will be voted for any nominee who shall be designated by our board of directors to fill such vacancy. If you are a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock and you do not give voting instructions to your broker, bank or other nominee, then your broker, bank or other nominee will leave your shares unvoted on this matter.

#### Vote Required

The election of each Class II director requires a plurality vote of the shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon to be approved. Accordingly, the nominees receiving the highest number of "FOR" votes will be elected. Abstentions, withheld votes and broker non-votes will have no effect on this proposal.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" THE ELECTION OF THE DIRECTORS NOMINATED BY OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND NAMED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT AS CLASS II DIRECTORS TO SERVE FOR A THREE-YEAR TERM.

# Proposal Two Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our audit committee has appointed BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. BDO USA, LLP has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since 2019.

At the Annual Meeting, stockholders are being asked to ratify the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. Stockholder ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP is not required by our bylaws or other applicable legal requirements. However, our board of directors is submitting the appointment of BDO USA, LLP to our stockholders for ratification as a matter of good corporate governance. In the event that this appointment is not ratified by our stockholders, such appointment will be reconsidered by our audit committee. Even if the appointment is ratified, our audit committee, in its sole discretion, may appoint another independent registered public accounting firm at any time during our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023 if our audit committee believes that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. A representative of BDO USA, LLP is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if he or she wishes to do so, and is expected to be available to respond to appropriate guestions from stockholders.

#### Fees Paid to the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The following table presents fees for professional audit services and other services rendered to us by BDO USA, LLP for our fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

	2022 (\$)	2021 (\$)
Audit Fees <sup>1</sup>	830,717	1,370,063
Audit-Related Fees	—	_
Tax Fees <sup>2</sup>	23,952	79,266
All Other Fees	—	_
Total Fees	854,669	1,449,329

 "Audit Fees" consisted of fees for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our financial statements, review of interim financial statements, assistance with registration statements filed with the SEC and services that are normally provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

2. "Tax Fees" consist of fees for services relating to tax planning and compliance services.

#### Auditor Independence

In the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, there were no other professional services provided by BDO USA, LLP that would have required our audit committee to consider their compatibility with maintaining the independence of BDO USA, LLP.



 $\square$ 

2023 PROXY STATEMENT CUE HEALTH

#### Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our audit committee has established a policy governing our use of the services of our independent registered public accounting firm. Under the policy, our audit committee is required to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services performed by our independent registered public accounting firm and audit engagement fees and terms in order to ensure that the provision of such services does not impair such accounting firm's independence.

All services provided by BDO USA, LLP for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 were pre-approved by our audit committee. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, none of the total hours expended on our financial audit by BDO USA, LLP were provided by persons other than BDO USA, LLP's full-time permanent employees.

#### Vote Required

The ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote thereon. Broker non-votes will have no effect on this proposal but abstentions will have the effect of a vote AGAINST this proposal.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE "FOR" THE RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF BDO USA, LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR OUR FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2023.

# Audit Committee Report

The information contained in the following Audit Committee Report shall not be deemed to be soliciting material or to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that Cue Health Inc., or the Company, specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.

The audit committee serves as the representative of our board of directors with respect to its oversight of:

- our accounting and financial reporting processes and the audit of our financial statements;
- the internal controls and integrity of our financial statements;
- our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
- inquiring about significant risks, reviewing our policies for risk assessment and risk management, and assessing the steps management has taken to control these risks; and
- the independent registered public accounting firm's appointment, qualifications and independence, and approval of the registered public accounting firm's services.

The audit committee also reviews the performance of our independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, in the annual audit of our financial statements and in assignments unrelated to the audit, and reviews the independent registered public accounting firm's fees.

The audit committee is composed of four non-employee directors. Our board of directors has determined that each member of the audit committee is independent, and that Ms. Faig qualifies as an "audit committee financial expert" under the SEC rules.

The audit committee provides our board of directors such information and materials as it may deem necessary to make our board of directors aware of financial matters requiring the attention of our board of directors. The audit committee reviews our financial disclosures and meets privately, outside the presence of our management, with our independent registered public accounting firm. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the audit committee reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 with management, which management has represented to the audit committee that the audited financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The audit committee also received from, and discussed, such audited financial statements with management and BDO USA, LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. The audit committee has received from, and discussed with BDO USA, LLP the matters required to be discussed by Auditing Standard No. 1301, *Communications with Audit Committees*, issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB.

The audit committee received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from BDO USA, LLP required by the applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding BDO USA, LLP's communications with the audit committee concerning independence of, and discussed with, BDO USA, LLP its independence. In addition, the audit committee discussed with BDO USA, LLP its independence from management and the Company, including matters in the letter from BDO USA, LLP required by PCAOB Rule 3526, *Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence*, and considered the compatibility of non-audit services with BDO USA, LLP's independence.

-

F

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the audit committee recommended to our board of directors that our audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 be included in our annual report. The audit committee also has selected BDO USA, LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2023. Our board of directors recommends that stockholders ratify this selection at the Annual Meeting.

Respectfully submitted by the members of the audit committee of the board of directors:

Carole Faig (Chair) Joshua Ghaim Sachin Jain Maria Martinez

30

# **Executive Officers**

The following table sets forth certain information about our executive officers and their respective ages as of April 17, 2023. Officers are elected by the board of directors to hold office until their successors are elected and qualified.

Name	Age	Position
Ayub Khattak	38	President, Chief Executive Officer, Director, Chairman of the Board and Co-Founder
Chris Achar	38	Chief Strategy Officer and Director
Aasim Javed	39	Chief Financial Officer
Erica Palsis	37	General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Randall E. Pollard	51	Chief Accounting Officer
Clint Sever	38	Chief Product Officer and Co-Founder

For the biographies of Messrs. Khattak and Achar, see the section titled "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance— Continuing Directors."

### **Aasim Javed**

Mr. Javed has served as our Chief Financial Officer since March 2023. Mr. Javed previously served as our Vice President of Finance and Treasurer from April 2021 to March 2023. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Javed served in various roles at Becton, Dickinson and Company, a medical technology company, from November 2015 to April 2021, including as Senior Director of Financial Planning and Analysis and Senior Director of Corporate Treasury. Mr. Javed has also been Associate Director of North America Budget and Business Planning at the Kraft Heinz Company, and Manager of Treasury Operations at General Motors. Mr. Javed holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree in Finance and Accounting from McGill University and a Master of Business Administration degree from Harvard Business School.

### **Erica Palsis**

Ms. Palsis has served as our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since February 2021. She was previously General Counsel, Corporate Secretary and Privacy Officer at Livongo Health, Inc. (acquired by Teladoc Health, Inc. in October 2020), a public consumer digital health company, from December 2018 to October 2020 and Vice President and Associate General Counsel from March 2017 to December 2018. Ms. Palsis also served as Corporate Counsel for Allscripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc., a public company providing practice management and electronic health record technology, from May 2014 to March 2017, and Associate Corporate Counsel from March 2010 to May 2014. Ms. Palsis received her B.A. in political science from Loyola University Chicago and J.D. from DePaul University College of Law.

 $\square$ 

### Randall E. Pollard

Mr. Pollard has served as our Chief Accounting Officer and Controller since April 2022. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Pollard served as Senior Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer at Covis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from November 2020 to April 2022. He previously served in various roles at Akorn, Inc. from June 2015 to November 2020, including as Senior Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer, Interim Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller. Mr. Pollard holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from Penn State University and a Master of Business Administration degree from Fairleigh Dickinson University.

### **Clint Sever**

Mr. Sever is the co-founder of our company and has served as our Chief Product Officer since January 2010. He holds a B.S. in retail and consumer science from the University of Arizona.

K

## **Executive Compensation**

### Process and Procedures for Compensation Decisions

Our named executive officers, which consist of the principal executive officer and the next two most highly compensated executive officers, for the year ended December 31, 2022 are Ayub Khattak, Chief Executive Officer and Co-Founder, Clint Sever, Chief Product Officer and Co-Founder, and John Gallagher, former Chief Financial Officer (until March 14, 2023).

Our compensation policies and philosophies are designed to align compensation with business objectives, while also enabling us to attract, motivate and retain individuals who contribute to our long-term success. The compensation of our named executive officers has consisted of a base salary and cash bonus, retirement, health and welfare benefits, and equity awards.

### Role of Compensation Consultant

Our compensation committee has the authority to engage its own independent advisors to assist in carrying out its responsibilities. For a number of years, including 2021 and 2022, our compensation committee retained Semler Brossy as its independent compensation consultant. In 2022, our compensation committee retained Compensia as its independent compensation consultant. Both independent compensation consultants have been engaged to review our executive compensation practices, as well as to advise our compensation committee on the principal aspects of executive compensation, including base salaries, bonuses and long-term equity incentives, as well as target total, all inclusive, compensation program as compared to peer companies. Both independent compensation consultants provided market information about the competitive framework for executive pay and performance-based incentives. Consistent with our compensation policies and philosophies, our compensation committee generally targets the 50th percentile of the peer group determined by the independent compensation consultants.

In 2021 and 2022, representatives of the compensation consultants communicated with the chair of our compensation committee outside of meetings with the Committee. Semler Brossy and Compensia report to our compensation committee and did not perform services for the Company other than for the Committee. Based on the consideration of the various factors as set forth in the rules of Nasdaq, our compensation committee does not believe that its relationship with Semler Brossy or Compensia and the work of Semler Brossy or Compensia on behalf of our compensation committee have raised any conflicts of interest.

### Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary information regarding the total compensation for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 for our named executive officers:

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$) <sup>1</sup>	Stock Awards (\$)		All Other Compensation (\$)	
Ayub Khattak,	2022	572,789	474,375	2,725,983	2	14,815	3,787,962
Chief Executive Officer	2021	465,000	575,000	52,250,539	3	8,355,462	61,646,001
Clint Sever,	2022	547,885	340,313	2,230,345	2	18,192	3,136,735
Chief Product Officer	2021	417,500	375,000	44,445,547	3	3,552,720	48,790,767
John Gallagher <sup>4</sup> ,	2022	572,789	—	1,534,585	2	20,137	2,127,511
Chief Financial Officer	2021	444,230	675,000	8,577,679		34,196	9,731,105

1. Except where noted otherwise, the amounts reported in the "Bonus" column reflect discretionary annual cash bonuses earned by each of our named executive officers for their performance, as determined by the board of directors in its sole discretion.

- Represents the grant-date fair value of the Time-Vesting RSU award calculated in accordance with ASC 718. Such grant-date fair value does not take into account any estimated forfeitures related to vesting conditions. The assumptions used to calculate these amounts are discussed in the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements Details and assumptions used in calculating these amounts may be found in Note 13 — Stock-Based Compensation to our financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2023.
- 3. The amount reported represents the grant date fair value of RSUs and Performance-Vested RSU awards (described below) computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Such grant-date fair value does not take into account any estimated forfeitures related to vesting conditions. The Performance-Vested RSUs are eligible to vest only upon achievement of certain stock price goals, revenue objectives, and operational milestones, as more fully described in the 2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards section below. As of March 31, 2023, 292,833 shares and 239,591 shares have vested for Messrs. Khattak and Sever, respectively, for the achievement of the FY21 Revenue Objective and zero shares have vested for Messrs. Khattak and Sever for the achievement of the FY 22 Revenue Objective. The assumptions used to calculate these amounts are discussed in the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements Details and assumptions used in calculating these amounts may be found in Note 12 Stock-Based Compensation to our financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 29, 2022. The value set forth in the table reflects the accounting assumptions made in September 2021. Since September 2021, the macroeconomic landscape has significantly changed. As described in the 2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards section below, approximately 70% of the Performance-Vested RSUs granted to each of the Co-Founders are based on stock price performance goals, ranging from an average of \$30.07 per share to an average of \$106.68 per share.
- 4. Mr. Gallagher resigned from his position as Chief Financial Officer, effective on March 14, 2023 and was not a named executive officer in 2021.

## Outstanding Equity Awards at 2022 Year-End

The following table sets forth information regarding outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2022:

		C	Opti	on Awards		Stock Awards						
Name	Grant Date	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable (#)		Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#) <sup>1</sup>	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (#) <sup>2</sup>	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested (\$) <sup>3</sup>			
Ayub Khattak	07/30/2014	295,900		0.4	7/29/2024	—	-	—	-			
	09/24/2021	_		_		671,077	1,389,129	—	_			
	09/24/2021	—		_		—	—	2,213,864	4,582,698			
	3/30/2022	_		_		340,749	705,350	—	_			
Clint Sever	07/30/2014	295,900		0.4	7/29/2024	—	—	—	—			
	08/08/2018	833,333	4	0.48	8/7/2028	—	_	—	_			
	08/08/2018	1,130,797	5	0.48	8/7/2028	—	—	—	—			
	09/24/2021	_		_		549,063	1,136,560	—	_			
	09/24/2021	—		—		—	_	1,920,073	3,974,551			
	3/30/2022	_		_		278,795	577,106	_	_			
John Gallagher <sup>6</sup>	03/01/2021	_		_		240,410	497,649	—	_			
	3/30/2022	_		_		191,825	397,078	_	_			

 Represents Time-Vesting RSUs awarded from the 2021 Stock Incentive Plan, which will vest as to 12.5% of the shares of our common stock subject to the award on the six-month anniversary of September 24, 2021 and as to an additional 6.25% of the shares of our common stock subject to the award at the end of each three-month period thereafter until the award is fully vested on the fourth anniversary of the grant date, subject, in each case, to the named executive officers continuous employment with us.

- 2. The shares underlying these Performance-Vesting RSU awards were granted under the 2021 Stock Incentive Plan and vest upon our board's certification of the achievement of certain performance metrics. The Performance-Vesting RSU awards vest upon satisfying certain performance conditions as follows: 70% vest on the achievement of certain stock price performance goals, 20% vest on the achievement of target revenue performance goals, and the remainder vest upon achievement of a product milestone goal. See "2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards" below for more information.
- 3. This amount reflects the fair market value of our common stock of \$2.07 per share as of December 31, 2022 multiplied by the amount shown in the column "Number of Unearned Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested."
- 4. Represents option grants awarded from the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, which vested monthly over one year commencing on December 31, 2017. Such awards became fully vested on December 31, 2018.
- 5. Represents option grants awarded from the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, which became fully vested on the grant date.
- 6. Mr. Gallagher resigned from his position as Chief Financial Officer, effective on March 14, 2023.

### 2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards

Pursuant to the terms of the Khattak employment agreement and the Sever employment agreement (described below under the heading "—Employment Agreements") in 2021 our board of directors approved the grant of restricted stock unit awards, which we refer to as the Founder RSUs, covering an aggregate of 6,707,320 shares of our common stock to Messrs. Khattak and Sever, whom we refer to as the Co-Founders, of which 3,629,225 Founder RSUs were granted to Mr. Khattak and 3,078,095 Founder RSUs were granted to Mr. Sever.

Our compensation committee and board of directors worked closely with Compensia, the company's independent compensation consultant at the time, in an effort to design an equity compensation structure for Messrs. Khattak and Sever that would align with our commitment to the long-term interests of our stockholders and require high levels of performance across multiple performance metrics to achieve meaningful value while not encouraging short-term gains through risk-taking, incentivize long-term performance beyond typical market-pay constructs, and be equitable and justifiable to the Co-Founders and our stockholders. As a result, approximately 75% of the Founder RSUs (2,653,114 in the case of Mr. Khattak and 2,279,459 in the case of Mr. Sever) were granted with vesting based on the satisfaction of both a continued employment condition and the achievement of certain performance goals, which we refer to as the Performance-Vesting RSUs, and approximately 25% (976,111 in the case of Mr. Khattak and 798,636 in the case of Mr. Sever) were granted with vesting solely based on the satisfaction of a continued employment condition, which we refer to as the Time-Vesting RSUs.

Each Founder RSU that vests in accordance with its terms will be settled with one share of our common stock within 30 days of the applicable vesting date. However, to further encourage the Co-Founders to focus on the long-term success of our business, the Co-Founders must hold any shares that are earned by them pursuant to the Performance-Vesting RSUs (excluding the sale of any shares necessary to satisfy any income or employment tax obligations resulting from the vesting of Performance-Vesting RSUs) for at least one year following the date on which such Performance-Vesting RSU vests. This post-vesting holding period would end before the first anniversary of vesting only in the event of an earlier change in control of our company or a termination of the Founder's employment due to death or disability.

The Time-Vesting RSUs vested or are scheduled to vest as to 12.5% of the shares of our common stock subject to the award on the six-month anniversary of the grant date and as to an additional 6.25% of the shares of our common stock subject to the award at the end of each three-month period thereafter until the award is fully vested on the fourth anniversary of the grant date, subject, in each case, to the Founder's continuous employment with us. In the event of the termination of the Founder's employment by us without cause or by him with good reason, each as defined in the Founder's employment agreement, the vesting of the Time-Vesting RSUs will accelerate such that the number of Time-Vesting RSUs that, but for such termination, would have otherwise vested in the one-year period following the date of such termination will immediately vest as of the date of such termination. Furthermore, in the event of the termination of the Founder's employment by us without cause or by him with good reason, in either case in the period (i) beginning three months before a change in control (as defined in the Founder's employment agreement), or, in the event we have executed a definitive agreement to effect a change in control as of the date the Founder's employment is terminated by us without cause or by the Founder with good reason, beginning six months before the change in control contemplated by such definitive agreement is consummated, and (ii) ending 24 months following the change in control (which we refer to as the Khattak equity CIC severance period or the Sever equity CIC severance period, as applicable), the vesting of any unvested Time-Vesting RSUs will accelerate in full; provided, however, that if any then-unvested Time-Vesting RSUs are not assumed or substituted for by the resulting or acquiring company (or affiliate of the resulting or acquiring company) in connection with such change in control, the vesting of the Founder's unvested Time-Vesting RSUs will be accelerated in full as of immediately prior to the consummation of the change in control.

The Performance-Vesting RSUs were granted as eligible to vest upon the achievement of certain stock

price performance goals (approximately 70% of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to each of the Co-Founders), target revenue performance goals (approximately 20% of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to each of the Co-Founders), and a product milestone goal (approximately 10% of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to each of the Co-Founders). 1,774,614 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Khattak and 1,560,686 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Sever, or the Stock Price Target RSUs, are eligible to vest based on our stock price performance over a performance period beginning on the date that is 60 days prior to the date that is nine months after the grant date and ending on the seven-year anniversary of the grant date, which period we refer to as the Stock Price Performance Period. The Stock Price Target RSUs are divided into seven tranches that are eligible to vest based on the achievement of stock price goals, measured based on an average closing price of our common stock over all trading days within a 60 consecutive calendar day period during the Stock Price Performance Period as set forth below.

	Number of Stock Price Target RSUs Eligible to Vest				
Price Goal	Khattak	Sever			
\$30.07	17,615	123,140			
\$37.13	292,833	239,591			
\$45.86	292,833	239,591			
\$56.63	292,833	239,591			
\$69.94	292,833	239,591			
\$86.38	292,833	239,591			
\$106.68	292,834	239,591			

There is no linear interpolation between price goals and numbers of Stock Price Target RSUs eligible to vest. The price goals will be adjusted to reflect any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, combination of shares, reclassification of shares, spin-off or other similar change in capitalization or event, or any dividend or distribution to holders of our common stock other than an ordinary cash dividend.

The remainder of the Performance-Vesting RSUs were granted as eligible to vest as follows:

292,833 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Khattak and 239,591 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Sever, or the FY21 Revenue Target RSUs, were eligible to vest based on the achievement of a specified level of our total revenue (as reported under U.S generally accepted accounting principles in our financial statements), which we refer to as total revenue, for fiscal year 2021, or, if such total revenue for fiscal year 2021 was not achieved, based on the achievement of a specified level of our aggregate total revenue for fiscal years 2021 and 2022. The specified level for the FY 21 Revenue Target RSUs was satisfied and the FY21 Revenue Target RSUs vested. 292,833 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Khattak and 239,591 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Sever, or the FY22 Revenue Target RSUs, were eligible to vest based on the achievement of a specified level of our total revenue for fiscal year 2022 is not achieved, based on the achievement of a specified level of fiscal years 2022 and 2023. The specified level of our total revenue for fiscal year 2022 was not achieved, and the FY22 Revenue Target RSUs remain eligible to vest in accordance with their terms.

292,834 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Khattak and 239,591 of the Performance-Vesting RSUs granted to Mr. Sever, or the Milestone Target RSUs, are eligible to vest based upon the achievement of a specified product milestone by December 31, 2022. However, if such milestone is not achieved on or before December 31, 2022 but is achieved during the six-month period beginning on January 1, 2023 and ending on June 30, 2023, 50% of the Milestone Target RSUs will be eligible to vest. The specified product milestone was not achieved by December 31, 2022.

For any tranche of the Performance-Vesting RSUs to vest, except as described below, the Founder generally must remain employed by us as of the date that our compensation committee certifies achievement of the performance goal applicable to that tranche. If the Founder's employment with us terminates, other than a termination by us without cause or by the Founder for good reason, then except as set forth below, any Performance-Vesting RSUs for which the applicable performance objective has not been achieved will be forfeited immediately and automatically to us. If the Founder's employment is terminated by us without cause or by the Founder for good reason other than in connection with a change in control, then:

- 50% of the Stock Price Target RSUs with respect to any price goal that has not been achieved as of the termination date will be retained by the Founder and may be earned after the termination date as follows: (1) if a price goal is achieved within six months of the termination date, 100% of the retained Stock Price Target RSUs associated with the price goal will be earned, (2) if a price goal is achieved after the date that is six months after the termination date but on or prior to the date that is 18 months after the termination date, 50% of the retained Stock Price Target RSUs associated with the price goal will be earned, and (3) if a price goal is achieved after the date that is 18 months after the termination date, 25% of the retained Stock Price Target RSUs associated RSUs associated with the price goal will be earned;
- 100% of the FY22 Revenue Target RSUs, to the extent then outstanding, will be retained by the Founder and may be earned after the termination date as follows: (1) if the applicable total revenue is achieved within 12 months of the termination date, 100% of the FY22 Revenue Target RSUs will be earned and (2) if the applicable total revenue is achieved more than 12 months following the termination date, 50% of the FY22 Revenue Target RSUs will be earned; and
- The Milestone Target RSUs, to the extent then outstanding, will be retained by the Founder and may be earned after the termination date as follows: (1) if the milestone performance goal is achieved within 12 months of the termination date and between January 1, 2023 and June 30, 2023, 50% of the Milestone Target RSUs will be earned, and (2) if such goal is achieved more than 12 months following the termination date and between January 1, 2023 and June 30, 2023, 25% of the Milestone Target RSUs will be earned.

Any Performance-Vesting RSUs that are not retained by the Founder will be forfeited immediately and automatically to us. If the Founder's employment is terminated with cause, (i) all of the Performance-Vesting RSUs will be forfeited immediately and automatically to us, (ii) to the extent any Performance-Vesting RSUs were settled by us prior to the date of termination, any shares that were delivered to the Founder upon such settlement will be automatically forfeited for no consideration, and (iii) to the extent any shares received upon settlement have been sold, the proceeds of such dispositions shall be paid over to us immediately following such termination.

In the event of a change in control of the Company:

- Our compensation committee will determine whether any price goals that have not previously been achieved are
  achieved as a result of the change in control, which determination will be based solely on the price to be paid to our
  stockholders in connection with the transaction, and the Stock Price Target RSUs with respect to any price goal that is
  achieved as a result of the change in control will vest immediately prior to the closing of the change in control.
- 50% of any Stock Price Target RSUs have not been earned by the Founder prior to the change in control, taking into account any Stock Price Target RSUs that are earned based on the price paid to our stockholders in the change in control as described above, will be retained by the Founder and converted into time-vested RSUs that vest in equal quarterly installments over the two-year period following the closing of the change in control, subject to the Founder's continued employment on each vesting date. If the Founder's employment is terminated by us without cause or by the Founder for good reason during the period beginning three months before the change in control (or, in the event we have executed a definitive agreement to effect the change in control as of the termination date, the period beginning six months before such change in control) and ending 24 months following the change in control, the retained Stock Price Target RSUs will vest in full as of the date of termination. If the retained Stock Price Target RSUs are not assumed (or substituted for substantially equivalent awards) by the resulting or acquiring company, the retained Stock Price Target RSUs will vest in full immediately prior to the change in control.
- Any FY21 Revenue Target RSUs, FY22 Revenue Target RSUs, or Milestone Target RSUs outstanding immediately prior to the change in control will be eligible to vest immediately prior to the closing of the change in control based on our compensation committee's reasonable and good-faith determination as to the projected level of achievement of the applicable performance objective as of the closing of the change in control. Any such RSUs that do not vest immediately prior to the change in control will be forfeited for no consideration.

### **Employment Agreements**

The following are summaries of employment agreements we have entered into with our executive officers.

#### Employment Agreement with Ayub Khattak

In connection with Mr. Khattak's continued service following our IPO, we entered into an employment agreement with him dated as of July 8, 2021, which we refer to as the Khattak agreement. Under the Khattak agreement, Mr. Khattak is an at-will employee, and his employment with us can be terminated by him or us at any time and for any reason upon written notice.

The Khattak agreement provides that Mr. Khattak is entitled to an annualized base salary of \$575,000, and that he is eligible, at our sole discretion, to earn an annual performance bonus of up to 100% of his base salary, or the Khattak post-IPO target bonus; provided that for the 2021 performance year, the amount of any bonus payable to Mr. Khattak was based on, for the period beginning on January 1, 2021 and ending on September 27, 2021, Mr. Khattak's target bonus and base salary, in each case, as in effect prior to September 28 2021, and for the period beginning on September 28, 2021 and ending on December 31, 2021, the Khattak post-IPO target bonus. The amount of any annual bonus will be determined by our board, or a committee of the board, based on Mr. Khattak's performance and the achievement of individual and corporate goals established by our board following consultation with Mr. Khattak. Except in the event of certain involuntary terminations of Mr. Khattak's employment as described below, Mr. Khattak must be employed on the date that any bonus is approved by the board or the committee in order to earn such bonus. Mr. Khattak is entitled under the Khattak agreement to reimbursement for business expenses pursuant to company policy and the use, which our board may

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

 $\rightarrow$ 

provide in its reasonable discretion, of personal security in connection with required business travel. The Khattak agreement also provides for the award of the Founder. In addition, the Khattak agreement provides that we will reimburse Mr. Khattak up to \$15,000 for the legal fees incurred by him in connection with the review and negotiation of the Khattak agreement and the Founder RSUs granted to him.

Under the Khattak agreement, in the event of the termination of Mr. Khattak's employment by us without cause or by him with good reason within the period beginning three months prior to and ending 12 months following a change in control, which period we refer to as the Khattak cash CIC severance period and subject to his execution and nonrevocation of a separation agreement and a release of claims in our favor, Mr. Khattak is entitled to (i) continue to receive his annual base salary, payable in equal installments, during the 12-month period following his termination date (calculated at a level without taking into account any reduction thereto that triggered good reason, if applicable), (ii) receive an amount equal to 100% of his target bonus for the year in which termination occurs (calculated at a level without taking into account any reduction thereto that triggered good reason, if applicable), or if higher, his target bonus immediately prior to the change in control, (iii) our payment of COBRA premiums for health benefit coverage on his behalf, for a period of up to 12 months following his termination date, at the same rate as we pay for active employees, subject to applicable COBRA terms and in compliance with applicable non-discrimination or other requirements under the law, and (iv) if such termination occurs following the end of the applicable performance year but before any annual bonus payable to Mr. Khattak in respect of such performance year is approved by our board, receive an amount equal to any annual performance bonus determined to be payable by our board for such prior performance year. Furthermore, in the event Mr. Khattak's employment is terminated by us without cause or by him with good reason within the Khattak equity CIC severance period, the Khattak agreement provides that Mr. Khattak will be entitled to accelerated vesting of all of his thenunvested equity awards which vest solely based on the passage of time (other than the Founder RSUs, described above under the heading "-2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards", which shall be governed by the terms of the Founder RSU agreements). However, if, in the event of a change in control of our company, Mr. Khattak's then-unvested equity awards (other than the Founder RSUs) that vest based solely on the passage of time are not assumed or substituted for by the resulting or acquiring company (or an affiliate of the resulting or acquiring company), the vesting of such equity awards will be accelerated in full and become immediately exercisable or non-forfeitable as of immediately prior to the consummation of the change in control.

In addition, under the Khattak agreement, in the event that Mr. Khattak's employment is terminated by us without cause or by him with good reason other than within the Khattak cash CIC severance period, and subject to his execution and nonrevocation of a separation agreement and a release of claims in our favor, Mr. Khattak will be entitled to (i) continue to receive his annual base salary, payable in equal installments, during the 12-month period following his termination date (calculated at a level without taking into account any reduction thereto that triggered good reason, if applicable), (ii) if such termination occurs following the end of the applicable performance year but before any annual bonus payable to Mr. Khattak in respect of such performance year is approved by our board, receive an amount equal to any annual performance bonus determined to be payable by our board for such prior performance year, and (iii) our payment of COBRA premiums for health benefit coverage on his behalf, for a period of up to 12 months following his termination date, at the same rate as we pay for active employees, subject to applicable COBRA terms and in compliance with applicable non-discrimination or other requirements under the law.

#### Employment Agreement with Clint Sever

In connection with Mr. Sever's continued service following our IPO, we entered into an employment agreement with him dated as of July 8, 2021, which we refer to as the Sever agreement. Under the Sever agreement, Mr. Sever is an at-will employee, and his employment with us can be terminated by him or us at any time and for any reason upon written notice.

The Sever agreement provides that Mr. Sever is entitled to an annualized base salary of \$500,000, and that he is eligible, at our sole discretion, to earn an annual performance bonus of up to 75% of his base salary, or the Sever post- IPO target bonus; provided that for the 2021 performance year, the amount of any bonus payable to Mr. Sever was based on, for the period beginning on January 1, 2021 and ending on September 27, 2021, Mr. Sever's target bonus and base salary, in each case, as in effect prior September 28, 2021, and for the period beginning on September 28, 2021 and ending on December 31, 2021, the Sever post- IPO target bonus. The amount of any annual bonus will be determined by our board, or a committee of the board, based on Mr. Sever's performance and the achievement of individual and corporate goals established by our board following consultation with Mr. Sever. Except in the event of certain involuntary terminations of Mr. Sever's employment as described below, Mr. Sever is entitled under the Sever agreement to reimbursement for business expenses pursuant to company policy and the use, which our board may provide in its reasonable discretion, of personal security in connection with required business travel. The Sever agreement also provides for the award of the Founder RSUs. In addition, the Sever agreement provides that we will reimburse Mr. Sever up to \$15,000 for the legal fees incurred by him in connection with the review and negotiation of the Sever agreement and the Founder RSUs granted to him.

Under the Sever agreement, in the event of the termination of Mr. Sever's employment by us without cause or by him with good reason within the period beginning three months prior to and ending 12 months following a change in control, which period we refer to as the Sever cash CIC severance period and subject to his execution and nonrevocation of a separation agreement and a release of claims in our favor, Mr. Sever is entitled to (i) continue to receive his annual base salary, payable in equal installments, during the 12-month period following his termination date (calculated at a level without taking into account any reduction thereto that triggered good reason, if applicable), (ii) receive an amount equal to 100% of his target bonus for the year in which termination occurs (calculated at a level without taking into account any reduction thereto that triggered good reason, if applicable), or if higher, his target bonus immediately prior to the change in control, (iii) our payment of COBRA premiums for health benefit coverage on his behalf, for a period of up to 12 months following his termination date, at the same rate as we pay for active employees, subject to applicable COBRA terms and in compliance with applicable non-discrimination or other requirements under the law, and (iv) if such termination occurs following the end of the applicable performance year but before any annual bonus payable to Mr. Sever in respect of such performance year is approved by our board, receive an amount equal to any annual performance bonus determined to be payable by our board for such prior performance year. Furthermore, in the event Mr. Sever's employment is terminated by us without cause or by him with good reason within the Sever equity CIC severance period, the Sever agreement provides that Mr. Sever will be entitled to accelerated vesting of all of his then-unvested equity awards which vest solely based on the passage of time (other than the Founder RSUs, described above under the heading "-2021 Co-Founder Equity Awards", which shall be governed by the terms of the Founder RSU agreements). However, if, in the event of a change in control of our company, Mr. Sever's then-unvested equity awards (other than the Founder RSUs) that vest based solely on the passage of time are not assumed or substituted for by the resulting or acquiring company (or an affiliate of the resulting or acquiring company), the vesting of such equity awards will be accelerated in full and become immediately exercisable or non-forfeitable as of immediately prior to the consummation of the change in control.

In addition, under the Sever agreement, in the event that Mr. Sever's employment is terminated by us without cause or by him with good reason other than within the Sever cash CIC severance period, and subject to his execution and nonrevocation of a separation agreement and a release of claims in our favor, Mr. Sever is entitled to (i) continue to receive his annual base salary, payable in equal installments, during the 12-month period following his termination date (calculated at a level without taking into account any reduction thereto that triggered good reason, if applicable), (ii) if such termination occurs following the end of the applicable performance year but before any annual bonus payable to Mr. Sever in respect of such performance year is approved by our board, receive an amount equal to any annual performance bonus determined to be payable by our board for such prior performance year, and (iii) our payment of COBRA premiums for health benefit coverage on his behalf,

for a period of up to 12 months following his termination date, at the same rate as we pay for active employees, subject to applicable COBRA terms and in compliance with applicable non-discrimination or other requirements under the law.

#### Employment Agreement with John Gallagher

Mr. Gallagher was party to an employment agreement with the Company dated as of February 23, 2021, which we refer to as the Gallagher agreement. Under the Gallagher agreement, Mr. Gallagher was an at-will employee, and his employment with us could be terminated by him or us at any time and for any reason without notice.

The Gallagher agreement provided that Mr. Gallagher was entitled to an annualized base salary of \$550,000, and that he was eligible, at our sole discretion, to earn an annual performance bonus of up to 50% of his base salary based upon the achievement of corporate and individual goals, as agreed by our board of directors. Additionally, the Gallagher agreement provided for a \$400,000 signing bonus, \$250,000 of which was paid upon his commencement of employment, and the remaining \$150,000 of which was paid on the six-month anniversary of his commencement of employment. Mr. Gallagher's agreement also provided for the award of 549,499 restricted stock units, which we refer to as the Gallagher RSU Award, which was granted to Mr. Gallagher on March 1, 2021. The Gallagher RSU Award vested with respect to one-fourth of the shares of our stock subject to the award on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date and stopped vesting on February 27, 2023. Additionally, 25% of the Gallagher RSU Award vested upon the closing of our initial public offering, with the remaining unvested portion of the Gallagher RSU Award vesting in equal quarterly installments following the closing of our initial public offering. Finally, Mr. Gallagher was entitled under the Gallagher agreement to reimbursement for business expenses pursuant to company policy and reimbursement of up to \$100,000 in relocation expenses.

Under the Gallagher agreement, Mr. Gallagher was entitled, subject to his execution and nonrevocation of a separation agreement and a general release of claims in our favor, in the event of the termination of his employment by us without cause or by him with good reason, each as defined in the Gallagher agreement, to (i) continue to receive his annual base salary, payable in equal installments, during the nine-month period following his termination date, (ii) our payment of COBRA premiums for health benefit coverage on his behalf, for a period of nine months following his termination date, at the same rate as we pay for active employees, subject to applicable COBRA terms and in compliance with applicable non-discrimination or other requirements under the law, (iii) receive any annual discretionary bonus for the preceding calendar year that our board of directors has approved but not yet paid, (iv) receive an amount equal to a pro rata portion of his target bonus for the year of his termination, based on the number of days he is employed in such year, (v) if such termination occurred prior to the one-year anniversary of the RSU Award grant date, accelerated vesting of the number of shares subject to the RSU Award that would have vested between the grant date and his termination occurred within the 60 days prior to or the one year following a change in control of the company (as defined in the Gallagher agreement), the accelerated vesting of 100% of his then-outstanding equity awards would vest solely based on continued service.

## Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2022 with respect to shares of our common stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans.

Plan Category	Number of Securities to be Issued upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Restricted Stock Units and Rights (#)	Average Exercise Price of Outstanding	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in the first Column) (#) <sup>1</sup>
Equity Compensation plans approved by security holders			
2014 Plan	7,717,921	5.92	_
2021 Plan	18,066,633	_	2,921,672
2021 ESPP	_	_	4,151,321
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	_	_	_
Total	25,784,554	5.92	7,072,993

1. Our 2021 Plan and 2021 ESPP each provide that the number of shares reserved for issuance under that plan automatically increase on the first day of each fiscal year each year in accordance with the formula set forth in that plan. The number of shares reported in this column does not include the 7,520,300 and 1,504,060 shares that became available for issuance as of January 1, 2023 pursuant to our 2021 Plan and 2021 ESPP, respectively.

2. RSUs, which do not have an exercise price, are excluded in the calculation of weighted-average exercise price.

CUE HEALTH 2023 PROXY STATEMENT

H

# Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 15, 2023 for (i) each of our named executive officers, (ii) each of our directors and nominees for director, (iii) all of our executive officers and directors as a group, and (iv) each person, or group of affiliated persons, who beneficially owned more than 5% of our common stock.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and sole investment power with respect to all shares that they beneficially owned, subject to community property laws where applicable.

We have based our calculation of the percentage of beneficial ownership on 151,421,815 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 15, 2023. We have deemed shares of our common stock subject to stock options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of March 15, 2023 or issuable pursuant to RSUs which are subject to vesting conditions expected to occur within 60 days of March 15, 2023, to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the stock option or RSU for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person. We did not deem these shares outstanding, however, for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Cue Health Inc.,4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100, San Diego, CA 92121.

	Commo	on Stock
Name of Beneficial Owner	Number	Percentage
Named Executive Officers and Directors:		
Ayub Khattak <sup>1</sup>	11,299,761	7.5%
Clint Sever <sup>2</sup>	5,359,770	3.5%
John Gallagher <sup>3</sup>	210,188	0.1%
Christopher Achar <sup>4</sup>	1,820,510	1.2%
Joanne Bradford	6,376	*
Carole Faig	6,376	*
Joshua Ghaim	—	
Sachin Jain	—	
Maria Martinez	6,376	*
All executive officers and directors as a group (11 persons) <sup>7</sup>	18,918,272	12.5%
5% Stockholders		
Entities affiliated with Decheng Capital <sup>5</sup>	8,980,909	5.9%
Entities affiliated with Oakmont Corporation <sup>8</sup>	9,595,348	6.3%
Acme Capital <sup>6</sup>	15,240,546	10.1%
Koch Industries, Inc.9	13,178,383	8.7%

\* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

 Consists of 11,299,761 shares of our common stock and options to purchase 295,900 shares of our common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of March 15, 2023.

 Consists of (i) 3,099,740 shares of our common stock, of which Mr. Sever holds 2,912,723 shares of common stock directly, and of which 187,017 shares are held jointly by Mr. Sever and his spouse, and (ii) options to purchase 2,260,030 shares of our common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of March 15, 2023.

3. Mr. Gallagher resigned from his role as Chief Financial Officer of the Company effective March 14, 2023. Consists 210,188 shares of common stock held by Mr. Gallagher.

- 4. Consists of (i) 300,510 shares of common stock held by Mr. Achar and (ii) 1,520,000 shares of our common stock held by Hlth Wrk LLC. Mr. Achar is the sole manager of Hlth Wrk LLC and may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Hlth Wrk LLC and as a result may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of such shares.
- 5. Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2022 on behalf of Decheng Capital Management III (Cayman), LLC ("Decheng Capital Management"). Consists of (i) 8,192,468 shares of common stock held by Decheng Capital China Life Sciences USD Fund III, L.P. ("Decheng Fund III") and (ii) 788,441 shares of common stock held by Decheng Capital Global Healthcare Fund (Master), LP ("Decheng Global"). Decheng Capital Management is the general partner of Decheng Fund III, and Decheng Capital Global Healthcare GP, LLC ("Decheng Global GP") is the general partner of Decheng Global. Dr. Cui is the sole manager of Decheng Capital Management and Decheng Global GP. Dr. Cui may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Decheng Fund III and Decheng Global and as a result may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of such shares. Dr. Cui resigned from our board of directors in July 2022. The address for Decheng is 3000 Sand Hill Road, Building 2, Suite 110, Menlo Park, California 94025.
- 6. Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2022 on behalf of Sherpa Ventures Fund LP ("ACME I"). Consists of (i) 9,748,805 shares of common stock held by ACME I and (ii) 5,491,741 shares of common stock held by SherpaVentures Fund II, LP ("ACME II"). Sherpa Ventures Fund GP, LLC ("ACME GP I") is the manager of ACME I. SherpaVentures Fund II GP, LLC ("ACME GP II") is the manager of ACME I. SherpaVentures Fund II GP, LLC ("ACME GP II") is the manager of ACME II. Mr. Stanford is a managing member of each of ACME GP I and ACME GP II and may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by ACME I and ACME II and ACME II and as a result may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of such shares. Funds managed by ACME, LLC and affiliates of ACME I and ACME II, are collectively defined as "ACME Capital". Mr. Stanford is a member of, and has a financial interest in, ACME Capital. Mr. Stanford resigned from our board of directors in July 2022. The address for ACME I and ACME II is 505 Howard Street, Suite 201, San Francisco, California 94105.
- Consists of (i) 39,965,360 shares of common stock beneficially owned by our executive officers and (ii) 2,555,930 shares of common stock subject to options exercisable within 60 days of March 15, 2023.
- 8. Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2023 on behalf of Oakmont Corporation. Represents (i) 5,631,534 shares held of record by Cove Investors II, LLC ("Cove II"), over which (a) Kelly Day has sole voting power and (b) Kelly Day and Oakmont Corporation share investment power, and (ii) 1,170,762 shares held of record by Cove Investors III, LLC ("Cove III"), over which Oakmont Corporation holds sole voting and investment power as Manager, and (iii) 2,793,052 shares held of record by Kelly Day, over which Oakmont Corporation and Kelly Day share investment and voting power. Oakmont Corporation is the investment advisor to Kelly Day. Robert A. Day is the sole owner of Oakmont Corporation. Each of Oakmont Corporation, Robert A. Day and Kelly Day may be deemed to have or share beneficial ownership of the shares held by directly by Cove II, Cove III and Kelly Day. Each of Oakmont Corporation, Robert A. Day and Kelly Day and Kelly Day disclaims any such beneficial ownership of shares not directly held or owned. The address for Oakmont Corporation is 865 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 700, Los Angeles, California 90017.
- 9. Based on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 10, 2023 on behalf of Koch Industries, Inc. ("Koch Industries"). Represents 13,178,383 shares held of record by KSP Cue Health Investments, LLC ("KSP Cue Health"). KSP Cue Health is beneficially owned by Koch Strategic Platforms, LLC ("KSP"), KSP is beneficially owned by Koch Investments Group, LLC ("KIG"), KIG is beneficially owned by Koch Investments Group, LLC ("KIG"), KIG is beneficially owned by Koch Investments Group, LLC ("KIG"), and KIGH is beneficially owned by Koch Industries, in each case by means of ownership of all voting equity instruments. By virtue of Koch Industries' indirect beneficial ownership of KSP Cue Health, KSP, KIG, and KIGH, Koch Industries may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to such shares, and as such may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of such shares. The address for Koch Industries is 4111 E. 37th Street North Wichita, Kansas 67220.

# Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

We describe below transactions and series of similar transactions, since the beginning of our last fiscal year, to which we were a party or will be a party, in which (i) the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed \$120,000, and (ii) any of our directors, nominees for director, executive officers or beneficial holders of more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock, or any immediate family member of, or person sharing the household with, any of these individuals or entities (each, a related person), had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

### **Convertible Note Financing**

In May 2021, we issued and sold Convertible Notes in the aggregate principal amount of \$235.5 million in a private placement with net proceeds of \$229.5 million. Interest will accrue on the Convertible Notes at a simple rate of 3% per annum. The Convertible Notes and any unpaid accrued interest will become due in May 2023. The Convertible Notes converted into 18,611,914 shares of our common stock in September 2021.

The following table sets forth the aggregate principal amounts of Convertible Notes that we issued to certain of our 5% stockholders and their affiliates and certain affiliates of members of our board of directors:

Purchaser <sup>1</sup>	Principal Amount of Convertible Notes (\$)
Decheng Capital China Life Sciences USD Fund III, L.P. <sup>2</sup>	10,000,000
Funds managed by ACME, LLC and affiliates <sup>3</sup>	4,696,970
JJDC <sup>4</sup>	7,000,000

1. See "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" for additional information about shares held by these entities.

2. Xiangmin "Min" Cui, a former member of our board of directors, is the managing director and founder of Decheng Capital China Life Sciences USD Fund III, L.P.

3. Funds managed by ACME, LLC and affiliates are ACME I and ACME II, collectively "ACME Capital." Scott Stanford, a former member of our board of directors, is a member of, and has a financial interest in ACME Capital.

4. Asish Xavier, a former member of our board of directors, is a principal of JJDC.

### **Other Transactions**

In May 2021, we entered into a consulting agreement with Village Girl LLC, or the Consulting Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2021. Village Girl LLC is an entity affiliated with Chris Achar, a member of our board of directors. Pursuant to the Consulting Agreement, Village Girl LLC agreed to provide consulting services related to, among other things, brand positioning and marketing and sales, in consideration of which we agreed to pay a monthly fee of \$30,000 and to reimburse certain expenses. The Consulting Agreement terminated on December 31, 2021.

During 2022, pursuant to that certain Cue Health Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2021, by and between the Company and Cisco Systems, Inc. ("Cisco"), we recognized revenue from all sales of our products to Cisco in the amount of approximately \$660,610. Maria Martinez, a member of our Board of Directors, is the Chief Operating Officer at Cisco.

### **Registration Rights**

We are a party to an investor rights agreement with the holders of our redeemable convertible preferred stock, including our 5% stockholders and their affiliates and entities affiliated with some of our directors. This investor rights agreement provides these holders the right, subject to certain conditions, beginning six months following the completion of our initial public offering, to demand that we file a registration statement or to request that their shares be covered by a registration statement that we are otherwise filing. In addition, these holders also have piggyback registration rights in respect of public offerings we may make for our own account or for other stockholders of our company. Holders of Convertible Notes are also entitled to registration rights in respect of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes.

### Indemnification Agreements

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. In addition, have entered into indemnification agreements with all of our directors and executive officers. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to indemnify each such director or executive officer for some expenses, including attorneys' fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by him or her in any action or proceeding arising out of his or her service as one of our directors or executive officers.

### Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions

Our board of directors has adopted written policies and procedures for the review of any transaction, arrangement or relationship in which our company is a participant, the amount involved exceeds the lesser of \$120,000 or one percent of the average of our total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal years, and one of our executive officers, directors, director nominees or 5% stockholders, or their immediate family members, each of whom we refer to as a "related person," has a direct or indirect material interest.

If a related person proposes to enter into such a transaction, arrangement or relationship, which we refer to as a "related person transaction," the related person must report the proposed related person transaction to our general counsel. The policy calls for the proposed related person transaction to be reviewed and, if deemed appropriate, approved by our audit committee. Whenever practicable, the reporting, review and approval will occur prior to entry into the transaction. If advance review and approval is not practicable, the audit committee will review, and, in its discretion, may ratify the related person transaction. The policy also permits the chairman of the audit committee to review and, if deemed appropriate, approve proposed related person transactions that arise between committee meetings, subject to ratification by the committee at its next meeting. Any related person transactions that are ongoing in nature will be reviewed annually.

A related person transaction reviewed under the policy will be considered approved or ratified if it is authorized by the audit committee after full disclosure of the related person's interest in the transaction. As appropriate for the circumstances, the audit committee will review and consider:

- the related person's interest in the related person transaction;
- the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the related person transaction;
- the approximate dollar value of the amount of the related person's interest in the transaction without regard to the amount of any profit or loss;
- whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of our business;
- whether the terms of the transaction are no less favorable to us than terms that could have been reached with an unrelated third party;

- the purpose, and the potential benefits to us, of the transaction; and
- any other information regarding the related person transaction or the related person in the context of the proposed transaction that would be material to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction.

Our audit committee may approve or ratify the transaction only if it determines that, under all of the circumstances, the transaction is in, or is not inconsistent with, our best interests. Our audit committee may impose any conditions on the related person transaction that it deems appropriate.

In addition to the transactions that are excluded by the instructions to the SEC's related person transaction disclosure rule, our board of directors has determined that the following transactions do not create a material direct or indirect interest on behalf of related persons and, therefore, are not related person transactions for purposes of this policy:

- interests arising solely from the related person's position as an executive officer of another entity, whether or not the person is also a director of such entity, that is a participant in the transaction where the related person and all other related persons own in the aggregate less than a 10% equity interest in such entity, the related person and his or her immediate family members are not involved in the negotiation of the terms of the transaction and do not receive any special benefits as a result of the transaction and the amount involved in the transaction is less than the greater of \$200,000 or 5% of the annual gross revenue of the company receiving payment under the transaction; and
- a transaction that is specifically contemplated by provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or bylaws.

The policy provides that transactions involving compensation of executive officers shall be reviewed and approved by our compensation committee in the manner specified in the compensation committee's charter.

We did not have a written policy regarding the review and approval of related person transactions prior our initial public offering. Nevertheless, with respect to such transactions, it was the practice of our board of directors to consider the nature of and business reasons for such transactions, how the terms of such transactions compared to those which might be obtained from unaffiliated third parties and whether such transactions were otherwise fair to and in the best interests of, or not contrary to, our best interests.

# **Other Matters**

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that our executive officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of our common stock, file reports of ownership and changes of ownership with the SEC. Such directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

SEC regulations require us to identify in this proxy statement anyone who filed a required report late during the most recent fiscal year. Based solely on our review of copies of such forms that we have received, or written representations from reporting persons, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, all executive officers, directors and greater than 10% stockholders complied with all applicable SEC filing requirements, except that the following forms were filed late due to administrative errors: one transaction for Dr. Ghaim and one transaction for Mr. Sever.

### Fiscal Year 2022 Annual Report and SEC Filings

Our financial statements for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2023. This Proxy Statement and our Annual Report are posted on our investor relations webpage at *investors.cuehealth.com* in the *"Financials & Filings"* section under *"SEC Filings"* and are available from the SEC at its website at *www.sec.gov*. You may also obtain a copy of our Annual Report without charge by sending a written request to Cue Health Inc., Attention: Investor Relations, 4980 Carroll Canyon Rd., Suite 100, San Diego, CA 92121.

### **Company Website**

We maintain a website at *www.cuehealth.com*. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not intended to be incorporated by reference into this proxy statement, and references to our website address in this proxy statement are inactive textual references only.

### Note about Forward-Looking Statements

This proxy statement contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as "may," "will," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "could," "intends," "target," "projects," "contemplates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "advance" or "continue" or the negative of these words, variations of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our expectations, strategy, plans, or intentions. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this proxy statement primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects. Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in such statements, including those described in the sections titled "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this proxy statement. We cannot assure you that the results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties, you should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events.

CUE HEALTH INC. 4980 CARROLL CANYON ROAD SUITE 100 SAN DIEGO, CA 92121



VOTE BY INTERNET Before The Meeting - Go to <u>www.proxyvote.com</u> or scan the QR Barcode above

Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

 $\textit{During The Meeting - Go to } \underline{www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023}$ 

You may attend the meeting via the Internet and vote during the meeting. Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow available and follow the instructions.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903 Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 p.m. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS:

							KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORD				
		DETACH ANI	O RETURN	THIS PO	RTION ONL'						
	HEALTH INC.										
	ne Board of Directors recommends you Illowing:	I vote FOR the									
1.	Election of the Class II Directors to 2026 annual meeting of stockholders respective successors are elected and q	s and until their									
	Nominees:	For A	Against	Abstain							
	1a. Chris Achar	O	Ο	Ο							
	1b. Joanne Bradford	O	Ο	D							
Tł	ne Board of Directors recommends you	vote FOR the following p	roposal				For A	Against	Abstain		
2.	Ratification of the appointment of BDC	) USA, LLP as the independe	ent registe	ered public	accounting firm.		D	0	Ο		
N	<b>OTE:</b> Such other business as may properly o	come before the meeting or	any adjo	ournment tl	nereof.						
Ple ac pe or	ease sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s dministrator, or other fiduciary, please give f ersonally. All holders must sign. If a corporat partnership name by authorized officer.	) hereon. When signing as full title as such. Joint owne ion or partnership, please si	attorney, rs should gn in full	executor, each sign corporate							
Sig	gnature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX]	Date			Signature (Joint Owners)	Date					

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Notice and Proxy Statement and Form 10-K are available at www.proxyvote.com

V16378-P89754

### CUE HEALTH INC. THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS JUNE 5, 2023

The shareholder(s) hereby appoint(s) Ayub Khattak with the power to appoint his substitute, and hereby authorize(s) him to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of Common Stock of Cue Health Inc. that the shareholder(s) is/are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held at 12:00 p.m., Eastern Time on Monday, June 5, 2023, virtually at www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/HLTH2023, and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

THIS PROXY, WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED, WILL BE VOTED AS DIRECTED BY THE SHAREHOLDER(S). IF NO SUCH DIRECTIONS ARE MADE, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED FOR THE ELECTION OF THE NOMINEES LISTED ON THE REVERSE SIDE FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND FOR PROPOSAL 2.

PLEASE MARK, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THIS PROXY CARD PROMPTLY USING THE ENCLOSED REPLY ENVELOPE

Continued and to be signed on reverse side